
 

 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

APOPKA CITY COUNCIL MEETING @ 8:00 PM 
City Hall Council Chamber 

120 East Main Street – Apopka, Florida 32703 
November 19, 2014 

 
 
INVOCATION  

Christian Ore - Victory Church 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

If you wish to appear before the City Council, please submit a Notice of Intent to Speak card 

to the City Clerk. 

PRESENTATIONS 

1. Proclamation - Presented to the Apopka High School Bowling Team 

CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Approve the minutes from the regular City Council meeting of October 15, 2014 at 8:00 

p.m.  

2. Reject Bid No. 2014-03, from Wright's Landscaping, Inc., for Lawn Maintenance 

Services for Code Enforcement. 

3. Authorize the disposal of surplus equipment/property and their removal from the City's 

asset list.  

4. Authorize the Mayor to execute Amendment II of the Project Renew Agreement 

between the City of Apopka and the Orlando Utilities Commission. 

SPECIAL REPORTS AND PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Page 1



Page 2 
 

 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 

1. ORDINANCE NO. 2386 – SECOND READING & ADOPTION - CHANGE OF ZONING 

- Florida Land Trust #111 – ZDA at Sandpiper, LLC - From “County” PD to “City” 

Planned Unit Development (PUD/R-1A) for property located south of Sandpiper Street, 

west of North Thompson Road, east of Ustler Road. (Parcel ID Nos.: 02-21-28-0000-

00-106, 02-21-28-0000-00-131, 03-21-28-0000-00-015, 03-21-28-0000-00-022, 03-21-

28-0000-00-023, 03-21-28-0000-00-046, 03-21-28-0000-00-047, 03-21-28-0000-00-

072, 03-21-28-0000-00-073, and 03-21-28-0000-00-119) [Ordinance No. 2386 meets 

the requirements for adoption having been advertised in The Apopka Chief on 

November 7, 2014.] 

2. ORDINANCE NO. 2388 – SECOND READING & ADOPTION - Amending the City of 

Apopka, Code of Ordinances, Part III, Land Development Code, Section III – Overlay 

Zones - To create a new Section 3.05 entitled “Designated Grow Area Overlay 

District.” [Ordinance No. 2388 meets the requirements for adoption having been 

advertised in The Apopka Chief on November 7, 2014.] 

3. ORDINANCE NO. 2390 – SECOND READING & ADOPTION - COMPREHENSIVE 

PLAN – SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – Metzler Family Trust, 

from “County” Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) and “City” Very Low Suburban 

Residential (0-2 du/ac) to “City” Agriculture (1 du/5 ac), for property located east of 

Vick Road, north of West Lester Road. (Parcel ID #s: 28-20-28-0000-00-010 & 28-20-

28-0000-00-075) [Ordinance No. 2390 meets the requirements for adoption having 

been advertised in The Apopka Chief on November 7, 2014.] 

4. ORDINANCE NO. 2391- SECOND READING & ADOPTION - CHANGE OF ZONING - 

Metzler Family Trust, from “County” A-1 and “City” R-1AA to “City” AG, for property 

located east of Vick Road, north of West Lester Road. (Parcel ID #s: 28-20-28-0000-

00-010 & 28-20-28-0000-00-075) [Ordinance No. 2391 meets the requirements for 

adoption having been advertised in The Apopka Chief on November 7, 2014.] 

5. ORDINANCE NO. 2392- SECOND READING & ADOPTION - CHANGE OF ZONING 

– Norman E. Sawyer, from “County” I-1/I-5 (ZIP) (Industrial) to “City” I-1 (Industrial) AG, 

for property located north of 13th Street, east of Lambing Lane. (Parcel ID #s: 15-21-

28-0000-00-095 & 15-21-28-0000-00-096) [Ordinance No. 2392 meets the 

requirements for adoption having been advertised in The Apopka Chief on November 

7, 2014.] 

SITE APPROVALS 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS AND BIDS 

1. Administrative Report  

MAYOR'S REPORT 

Page 2



Page 3 
 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

     1.   COUNCIL 

     2.   PUBLIC 

NEW BUSINESS 

     1.   COUNCIL 

     2.   PUBLIC 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

********************************************************************************************************** 
All interested parties may appear and be heard with respect to this agenda.  Please be advised that, under state law, if you decide to appeal 
any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting or hearing, you will need a record of the 
proceedings, and that, for such purpose, you may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes a 
testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.   The City of Apopka does not provide a verbatim record.    
 
In accordance with the American with Disabilities Act (ADA), persons with disabilities needing a special accommodation to participate in any 
of these proceedings should contact the City Clerk's Office at 120 East Main Street, Apopka, FL  32703, telephone (407) 703-1704, no less 
than 48 hours prior to the proceeding. 
  

Page 3



Page 4 
 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

1. Approve the minutes from the regular City Council meeting of October 15, 2014 at 8:00 

p.m.  

  

Page 4



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 
 

Minutes of the regular City Council meeting held on October 15, 2014, at 8:00 p.m., in the 

City of Apopka Council Chambers. 
 

PRESENT:  Mayor Joe Kilsheimer 

   Commissioner Bill Arrowsmith 

Commissioner Billie Dean 

  Commissioner Diane Velazquez 

  Commissioner Sam Ruth 

  City Attorney Cliff Shepard 

  

PRESS PRESENT:    Roger Ballas - The Apopka Chief 

 

INVOCATION - Commissioner Arrowsmith introduced Senior Pastor James Hicks of the 

Center of Faith Church, who gave the Invocation. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - Mayor Kilsheimer said October 13, 1775 is celebrated as the 

birthday of the United States Navy and on that date, the Continental Congress authorized the 

construction and administration of the first American Naval Force. Initially seven ships were 

constructed and led the new Nation in several victories over British warships, as well as 

successful attacks on British Merchant ships. The United States quickly established itself as a 

naval power and the Navy has played an important part in both peacetime and wartime missions 

since its inception in 1775. He asked everyone to remember those who have served in the United 

States Navy and all of those who are currently deployed in our armed forces as he led in the 

Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer said during public participation, we were going to try something new by 

limiting time for those who get up to speak a second time to 1-2 minutes.  
 

PRESENTATIONS  

 

1. Red Ribbon Week Proclamation - Mayor Kilsheimer read the proclamation and 

presented it to Rod Toledo, Nicholas Toledo, Jacob Toledo, Victor Vargas, Christian 

Vargas and Roberto Vargas of the Orlando Devil Dog Young Marines. 

2. Fire Prevention Month Proclamation - Mayor Kilsheimer read the proclamation and 

presented it to Chief Tyre. Chief Tyre reminded everyone to change the batteries in their 

smoke detectors on November 2, 2014 when setting their clocks back. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

1. Approve the minutes of the regular City Council meeting held on September 17, 2014, at 

8:00 p.m. 

2. Approve the minutes of Administrative Bid No. 2014-13, for Auditing Services, held on 

October 3, 2014, at 10:15 a.m. 

 

Page 5



CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on October 15, 2014, at 8:00 p.m. 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

3. Approve the bid from Rosenbauer America, LLC. in the amount of $593,516.00, for 

construction of Heavy Rescue Apparatus. 

4. Approve a request from Greenbrier of Central Florida, LLC. to hold the “Paws For a 

Cause” Festival on October 24 & 25, 2014, at 3703 W. Kelly Park Road. 

5. Authorize the issuance of a Peddler's Permit to Tampa Bay Automotive LLC., to hold a 

vehicle sale at Apopka Land Regional Shopping Center. 

6. Approve a request from St. Francis of Assisi Catholic Church to hold their Fall Festival on 

October 24, 25 & 26, 2014, at 834 S. Orange Blossom Trail. 

7. Authorize an expenditure from the Law Enforcement Trust Fund, in the amount of 

$2,500.00, to Apopka High School for the creation of the Academic Consortium of 

Scholars. 

8. Authorize an expenditure from the Law Enforcement Trust Fund, in the amount of 

$12,500.00, for undercover operations. 

9. Authorize  the  Mayor  or  his  designee  to  execute  the  Sewer  and  Water  Capacity 

Agreement for VitAg Corporation, located 6751 West Jones Avenue. 

 

MOTION was made by Commissioner Arrowsmith, and seconded by Commissioner Ruth, 

to approve the nine items of the Consent Agenda. Motion carried unanimously, with Mayor 

Kilsheimer, and Commissioners Arrowsmith, Dean, Velazquez, and Ruth voting aye. 

 

SPECIAL REPORTS AND PUBLIC HEARINGS - There were no special reports or public 

hearings.  

 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS – There were no ordinances or resolutions. 

 

SITE APPROVALS - There were no site approvals. 

 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS AND BIDS – 

 

1. Administrative Report – Janice G. Goebel, Interim City Administrator, said her report had 

been distributed and she would answer any questions. 

 

MAYOR'S REPORT –  
 

1. Appointment and ratification of Pamela D. Toler to the Planning Commission. 

 

MOTION was made by Commissioner Ruth and seconded by Commissioner Velazquez 

to ratify the appointment of Pamela D. Toler to the Planning Commission. Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Kilsheimer and Commissioners Arrowsmith, Dean, 

Velazquez, and Ruth voting aye. 

 

2. Approval of new City Auditor, Moore Stephens Lovelace, CPAs and Advisors 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer reported the firm that had served as the City Auditor resigned in August, 

stating they were going to be concentrating on other areas of business. He advised the City 

Page 6



CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on October 15, 2014, at 8:00 p.m. 

Page 3 of 4 

 

 

had received four proposals for Auditing Services. The Review Committee met and after 

discussing the proposals decided to recommend Moore Stephens Lovelace, CPAs and 

Advisors.  

 

MOTION was made by Commissioner Arrowsmith, and seconded by Commissioner 

Velazquez, to approve Moore Stephens Lovelace as the new City auditing firm. Motion 

carried by a unanimous vote with Mayor Kilsheimer and Commissioners Arrowsmith, 

Dean, Velazquez, and Ruth voting aye. 

 

OLD BUSINESS  
 

1.  COUNCIL - Commissioner Arrowsmith said he had been contacted by the Boy Scouts of 

America several months ago to inquire if the City would be able to contribute $5,000 to their 

organization again this year. He stated he spoke to the City Administrator at that time and he 

had approved this under his authority. As a result, they were told they would be receiving the 

donation and apparently they have sent invoices and the funds have not been sent to them. 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer advised this commitment had not been communicated to him and upon his 

inquiring about it, he was told it was up to his discretion. He had staff research and the City 

had donated $5,000 the year before and the largest amount up until then was $1,500. He 

advised $500 had been donated to them.  

 

MOTION was made by Commissioner Arrowsmith and seconded by Commissioner 

Dean to donate an additional $4,500 to the Boy Scouts of America. Motion carried 

unanimously with Mayor Kilsheimer, and Commissioners Arrowsmith, Dean, 

Velazquez, and Ruth voting aye.  

 

Commissioner Arrowsmith said the original concept of the Community Trust was for events 

such as this and he does not know of any guidelines that have been established. He suggested 

that group needs to hold a meeting and establish some guidelines so these organizations can 

be referred to them in the future.  

 

2.  PUBLIC  - Ray Shackelford requested clarification on the Charter stating the Council 

recently ratified the appointment of the City Attorney and at the last meeting Ms. Goebel’s 

appointment as Interim City Administrator was not ratified. He said he supports and endorses 

her appointment. He also submitted for the record a recommendation for One Apopka for 

Progress List. 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer said serving on an interim basis did not require a ratification vote. He said 

when a new candidate is selected for City Administrator that will be brought to the Council 

for ratification. 

 

Ron Landon said he received a notice in the mail that the City was transferring the employee 

assets to ING and inquired if the Council voted on this matter.  

 

 

 

Page 7



CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on October 15, 2014, at 8:00 p.m. 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS  
 

1. COUNCIL – Commissioner Ruth said the Academic Consortium of Scholars was on the 

Consent Agenda. He said James Delgado was present and he requested to have him speak on 

the program at Apopka High School. 

 

Mr. Delgado said Mr. Guthrie, Principal of Apopka High School, had put him in charge of 

the program that recognizes academic achievement. He explained this program celebrates the 

students for what they have accomplished in the classroom just like the athletes are 

recognized. The students are recognized based upon their GPA scores and they earn apparel 

from t-shirts, a hoodie jacket, fraternity style jersey, and a jacket. He affirmed they appreciate 

the support from the community.  

 

Commissioner Arrowsmith asked the City Attorney for clarification regarding the consulting 

agreement made with Richard Anderson where it states the City Commission will not answer 

to him, nor will he answer to the City Commission. He inquired if the commissioners were 

able to contact him on a one on one basis. 

 

City Attorney Shepard advised part of this was to clarify he was no longer the CAO and not 

directing employees. He said he did not think the intent was to keep commissioners from 

communicating with him, but he would check further into this matter and report back. He 

stated there could certainly be communication in this setting with the Council, as he would be 

working as the lobbyist. 

 

In response to Commissioner Ruth stating the City of Apopka needs to communicate better 

on events through a newsletter, Mayor Kilsheimer advised the City has a monthly newsletter 

that goes out in the water bills. He agreed there needs to be more and better communication 

from the City. He affirmed there is regular communication on the City’s Facebook page, the 

website, and The Apopka Chief was a good source of communication. 

 

2.  PUBLIC - Dr. Shackelford inquired when the public would know who would be serving on 

the City Administrator selection committee, to which Mayor Kilsheimer said he would be 

selecting those members in the near future. He asked Dr. Shackelford if he would like to 

serve on the committee. Dr. Shackelford responded in the affirmative. 

 

ADJOURNMENT - There being no further business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 8:45 

p.m. 

 

 

 

        ____________________________ 

        Joseph E. Kilsheimer, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

Page 8



Page 9 
 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

2. Reject Bid No. 2014-03, from Wright's Landscaping, Inc., for Lawn Maintenance 

Services for Code Enforcement. 

  

Page 9



 

 

      CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

  
CONSENT AGENDA MEETING OF: November 19, 2014 

PUBLIC HEARING FROM:  Police Department 

SPECIAL HEARING EXHIBITS:  

OTHER:   

  

  
SUBJECT:   
 
 
  

Request: 
 
 
 
SUMMARY: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

FUNDING SOURCE: 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
  Reject the bid received for lawn maintenance services for code enforcement.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director 

Commissioners     HR Director   City Clerk 

City Administrator    IT Director   Fire Chief 

Community Development Director  Police Chief    

 

       

LAWN MAINTENNACE SERVICES FOR CODE ENFORCEMENT 

/ABANDONED PROPERTY SERVICE AND NEIGHBORHOOD/ 

SUBDIVISION MAINTENANCE FOR NON-AD VALOREM ACCESSED 

PROPERTIES WITHIN THE CITY OF APOPKA  

 

 

REJECT BID RECEIVED FOR BID NO. 2014-03 THE LAWN 

MAINTENANCE SERVICES FOR CODE ENFORCEMENT  

Staff advertised for Lawn Maintenance and Services for Code Enforcement.  Only one (1) bid 

was received: 

 

1. Wright’s Landscaping Inc.            Bid Group ‘A’: $6,234.00 

                                                                   Bid Group ‘B’: $31,440.00 

                                                                   Total Bid: $37,674.00 

 

The low bidder, Wright’s Landscaping, Inc., did not meet the required bidder qualifications.  

A bidder qualification specified a copy of the bidders Limited Ornamental Turf License and 

was not provided. 

 

 

 

 

 

     

  Non-Ad Valorem Special Assessments   

Page 10



Page 11 
 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

3. Authorize the disposal of surplus equipment/property and their removal from the City's 

asset list.  

  

Page 11



CITY OF APOPKA 
CITY COUNCIL 

 
  

 
 X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: __November 19, 2014   
___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:        __Police Department_ 
     SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:    __Property List       
     OTHER:  _______________ 

  
 
SUBJECT:  

SURPLUS PROPERTY 
 

Request:  
AUTHORIZE THE DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS EQUIPMENT/PROPERTY AND 
REMOVAL OF ASSETTED PROPERTY FROM THE CITY ASSET LIST. 

  
SUMMARY: 
 
Staff requests City Council approval to dispose of surplus equipment/property which has no useful benefit 
to the daily operation of the city. This request is to authorize the disposal of items by auction, donation, or 
elimination. The attached list identifies said surplus radio, office, computer, and other equipment located 
in storage which no longer is functional or has usefulness to the city that can be identified by asset number 
or serial number. Included in the request is the disposal of miscellaneous small items with no asset tag or 
serial number located in various storage areas controlled by the city deemed to have no value to the city.  
  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 
N/A 
    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
Authorize department members to dispose of said property. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
 
Mayor Kilshiemer    Finance Director  Public Services Director 
Commissioners     HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator     IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

 

Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45 
 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

4. Authorize the Mayor to execute Amendment II of the Project Renew Agreement 

between the City of Apopka and the Orlando Utilities Commission. 

  

Page 45



      

      

   CITY OF APOPKA    

     CITY COUNCIL    
 

 

CONSENT AGENDA MEETING OF: November 19, 2014 

PUBLIC HEARING FROM:  Public Services 

SPECIAL HEARING EXHIBITS: 

OTHER:       
 

Project RENEW 

Amendment II 

 

SUBJECT:     ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION (OUC) / CITY OF APOPKA PROJECT 

RENEW AGREEMENT 

 

Request:          AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE OUC/CITY OF APOPKA PROJECT 

RENEW AMENDMENT II. 
 

 

SUMMARY: 

 
On January 9, 2009, City Council approved an agreement between the City and OUC for OUC to provide and the City to 

accept 3 million gallons per day (MGD) of reclaimed water by October 2011 plus an additional 5.55 MGD by October 

2015, for a total of 8.55 MGD.  On July 18, 2012, Council approved Amendment I to postpone the delivery date of the 3 

MGD to October 2018 and subsequently the delivery of the 5.55 MGD to October 2020.  Attached is Amendment II to 

postpone the delivery date of the 3 MGD to October 2020 and subsequently the delivery of the 5.55 MGD to October 

2022. 

 

 

FUNDING SOURCE: 

 
N/A 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

 
Authorize the Mayor to execute the OUC/Apopka Project RENEW Amendment II subject to approval by the City 

Attorney. 

 

DISTRIBUTION: 
Mayor Kilsheimer 
Commissioners  

City Administrator 
Community Development Director 

 
Finance Director 
Human Resources Director 
Information Technology Director 
Police Chief 

 
Public Services Director  

City Clerk  
Fire Chief  

 

Page 46



 

 

Page 1 of 6 
 

AMENDMENT 2 TO 
RENEW RECLAIMED WATER AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF APOPKA 
AND ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION 

 
 

THIS AMENDMENT 2 (“Amendment”) is made and entered into this _____ day of 

_________________, 2014, by and between the CITY OF APOPKA (hereinafter “Apopka”), a 

municipal corporation of the State of Florida, and ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION 

(hereinafter “OUC”), a statutory commission organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Florida. Apopka and OUC may also be referred to in this Agreement individually as a “Party” and 

collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Apopka owns and operates potable Water, Wastewater, Reclaimed Water and 

Storm Water management facilities and provides those related services within Apopka’s city limits 

and in portions of unincorporated Orange County; and 

WHEREAS, OUC is the municipal utility provider within the City of Orlando (hereinafter 

“Orlando”) of, among other services, Water Service and Electric service as well as providing such 

services to portions of unincorporated Orange and Osceola Counties; and 

WHEREAS, Orlando owns and operates Wastewater, Reclaimed Water and Storm Water 

management facilities; and 

WHEREAS, OUC and Apopka entered into the RENEW Reclaimed Water Agreement on 

March 5, 2009, (“RENEW Agreement”) and entered into Amendment 1 thereto on August 2, 2012, 

whereby they each agreed to work cooperatively with the other to share in the cost to reroute 9.2 

MGD of raw wastewater from the Iron Bridge collection system and pump it to Conserv II WRF, 

Page 47



 

 

Page 2 of 6 
 

then pump 8.55 MGD Reclaimed Water through a new pipeline to Apopka and 0.65 MGD 

Reclaimed Water through the existing Conserv II pipe to the City of Winter Garden (“Original 

RENEW Plan”); and 

WHEREAS, OUC has experienced delays outside of its control in proceeding with Project 

RENEW property acquisition and in addition, has experienced less near term growth and 

development in its service area than originally forecast and as a result, the timing of the Original 

RENEW Plan under the Original CUP does not match OUC’s current service obligations; and 

WHEREAS, on May 10, 2011, SJRWMD approved a modification of the Original CUP and 

through negotiations with OUC, issued a modified CUP 2-095-3159-15 (“Modified CUP”), wherein 

certain conditions of the Original CUP, including original RENEW Condition 37 (Condition 30 in 

Modified CUP) dealing with the requirements of Project RENEW, were modified; and 

WHEREAS, on May 21, 2014, SJRWMD approved a modification of the Modified CUP 

and through negotiations with OUC, issued a modified CUP 2-095-3159-16 (“Modified CUP 2014”), 

wherein certain conditions of the Modified CUP, including RENEW Condition 30 (Condition 29 in 

Modified CUP 2014) dealing with the requirements of Project RENEW, were modified; and 

WHEREAS, OUC and Apopka desire to amend and modify the RENEW Agreement to 

reflect the conditions of the Modified CUP. 

ACCORDINGLY, in consideration of the recitals, agreements and mutual covenants 

contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which are hereby 

acknowledged by Apopka and OUC, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. RECITALS. The above recitals are true and correct, and form a material part 

of this Agreement. 

Page 48



 

 

Page 3 of 6 
 

2. DEFINITIONS. The words, phrases and terms used in this Amendment shall 

have the meanings set out in the RENEW Agreement, unless the context requires otherwise. 

3.   AMENDMENT TO SUBSECTION 4.7.   Subsection 4.7 of the 

RENEW Agreement shall be amended to read as follows: 

4.7      Timing of Construction. Subject to the fulfillment of any conditions 

precedent as set forth in Section 8 below, OUC shall at its sole discretion determine 

the timing of the construction of the Project Facilities to meet the CUP requirement 

of Phase I completion by October 8, 2020. OUC shall provide Apopka with sixty (60) 

days prior written notice indicating its proposed construction start date.  Apopka 

may request to defer the proposed construction start date by providing OUC with 

thirty (30) days prior written notice.  If Apopka requests a deferral of more than 

three (3) months, OUC may terminate this Agreement and neither party shall have 

any further obligation to the other. 

 
4. AMENDMENT TO SUBSECTION 7.1.  Subsection 7.1 of the RENEW 

Agreement shall be amended to read as follows: 

 

7.1 OUC Delivery Obligations. OUC shall use all reasonable efforts to 

complete construction of the Project Facilities in time to make Reclaimed Water 

available in accordance with the following schedule and quantities: 

A. No later than October 8, 2020, a Constant Flow based on 3.0 MGD 

(calendar annual average) of Reclaimed Water available to Apopka; and 

B. No later than October 8, 2022, a Constant Flow based on 8.55 MGD 

(calendar annual average) of Reclaimed Water available to Apopka. 

 
5.     AMENDMENT TO SUBSECTION 7.2.   Subsection 7.2 of the RENEW 

Agreement shall be amended to read as follows: 

Page 49



 

 

Page 4 of 6 
 

7.2   Apopka Obligations to Accept Reclaimed Water. Apopka shall accept 

delivery of Reclaimed Water at the Delivery Point in accordance with the following 

schedule and quantities: 

A. No later than October 8, 2020, a Constant Flow based on 3.0 MGD and 

3.0 MGD (calendar annual average) of Reclaimed Water, unless Apopka has 

requested to defer the construction start date, in which case the parties shall 

mutually agree on a new delivery date; and 

B. No later than October 8, 2022, a Constant Flow based on 8.55 MGD Constant Flow and 

8.55 MGD (calendar annual average) of Reclaimed Water unless Apopka has requested to 

defer the construction start date, in which case the parties shall mutually agree on a new 

delivery date. 

6.     AMENDMENT TO SUBSECTION 8.4.  Subsection 8.4 of the RENEW 
  
Agreement shall be amended to read as follows: 

8.4  OUC and Apopka shall have mutually agreed  in writing to Modify 

Project RENEW to the extent deemed necessary by either party to accommodate any 

of the following:(a) conditions relating to Apopka’s CUP requirements; (b) any 

modifications imposed on OUC under its CUP; (c) alternative sources and methods 

for OUC delivery of Reclaimed Water to Apopka; (d) alternative sources and 

methods for OUC delivery and use of Reclaimed Water that may assist in the 

recovery or prevention of Minimum Flow Levels established by the SJRWMD or 

other water management districts; and (e) findings from an updated RENEW 

engineering study to be submitted within 2 years after adoption of the MFL 

Prevention/Recovery Strategy for South Lake, Orange and Seminole Counties by the 

SJRWMD Governing Board,  as required by OUC’s CUP. The study will include a 

goal to develop solutions to regional constraints which are economically beneficial 

to both Apopka and OUC at no cost to Apopka. 

 
7. AMENDMENT TO SECTION 12.  Section 12 of the RENEW 

Page 50



 

 

Page 5 of 6 
 

Agreement shall be amended to read as follows: 

 
12. MUTUAL COOPERATION, CAPACITY REDUCTION AND 

PERMITTING.   Apopka and OUC agree that if (a) OUC’s conditions precedent 

under Section 8 have not been met or waived in writing by OUC and (b) Apopka 

has demonstrated a need for Reclaimed Water at the time of its request and the 

Apopka City Commission has approved the terms of a contract for an alternate 

source of Reclaimed Water, then  Apopka may request OUC to amend this 

Agreement to allow for an extension of delivery dates or a reduction in the 

quantities of Reclaimed Water it must accept and OUC must provide under 

Section 7.1.    If OUC is unwilling or unable to either match the timing, pricing 

and quantity of the Reclaimed Water from the alternate source or terminate this 

Agreement, then OUC shall be required to so amend the Agreement.   

 

8. EFFECTIVE DATE; TERM.  This Amendment shall take effect on the 

date the last party executes this Amendment as evidenced by the date below each signature. 

 
9.     GOVERNING LAW. This Amendment shall be governed by the laws of the 

State of Florida. 

10. ALL REMAINING TERMS UNCHANGED.  Except to the extent 

modified in this Amendment, all other terms in the RENEW Agreement remain unchanged. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be 

executed by their designated representatives, as of the day and year indicated above. 

 

 

Page 51



 

 

Page 6 of 6 
 

ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION 
 

 
By: ______________________________ 
      Kenneth P. Ksionek,  
      General Manager & CEO 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legality 
OUC Legal Department 
 
By: _______________________________ 
 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 

 
By: ______________________________ 
       Joseph E. Kilsheimer, 
       Mayor 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legality for the use and 
reliance of the City of Apopka, Florida only. 
 
By:  ________________________________ 
                      City Attorney 
 

  

 

 

Page 52



Page 53 
 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

1. ORDINANCE NO. 2386 – SECOND READING & ADOPTION - CHANGE OF ZONING 

- Florida Land Trust #111 – ZDA at Sandpiper, LLC - From “County” PD to “City” 

Planned Unit Development (PUD/R-1A) for property located south of Sandpiper Street, 

west of North Thompson Road, east of Ustler Road. (Parcel ID Nos.: 02-21-28-0000-

00-106, 02-21-28-0000-00-131, 03-21-28-0000-00-015, 03-21-28-0000-00-022, 03-21-

28-0000-00-023, 03-21-28-0000-00-046, 03-21-28-0000-00-047, 03-21-28-0000-00-

072, 03-21-28-0000-00-073, and 03-21-28-0000-00-119) [Ordinance No. 2386 meets 

the requirements for adoption having been advertised in The Apopka Chief on 

November 7, 2014.] 

  

Page 53



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

   X    PUBLIC HEARING      DATE:  November 19, 2014 
          ANNEXATION      FROM: Community Development 
          PLAT APPROVAL      EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 
   X    OTHER: Ordinance        Vicinity Map 
           Adjacent Zoning Map 
           Adjacent Uses Map 
           Ordinance No. 2386 
           “A” PUD Master Plan\PDP 
           “B” Development Standards 
           “B-1” Northern Landscape Buffer 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: FLORIDA LAND TRUST #111 – ZDA AT SANDPIPER, LLC – CHANGE OF ZONING - 
FROM “COUNTY” PD TO “CITY” PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD/R-1A); AND 
MASTER PLAN/PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

     
Request: SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE NO. 2386 – CHANGE IN 

ZONING FOR FLORIDA LAND TRUST #111 – ZDA AT SANDPIPER, LLC FROM 
“COUNTY” PD (ZIP) (RESIDENTIAL) TO “CITY” PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
(PUD/R-1A) (RESIDENTIAL) AND APPROVAL OF THE PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
MASTER SITE PLAN. (PARCEL ID NUMBERS: 02-21-28-0000-00-106, 02-21-28-
0000-00-131, 03-21-28-0000-00-015, 03-21-28-0000-00-022, 03-21-28-0000-00-023, 03-
21-28-0000-00-046, 03-21-28-0000-00-047, 03-21-28-0000-00-072, 03-21-28-0000-00-
073, AND 03-21-28-0000-00-119) 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY 
 
OWNER/APPLICANT: Florida Land Trust #111, c/o ZDA at Sandpiper, LLC, Trustee 
 
LOCATION: South of Sandpiper Street, west of North Thompson Road, east of Ustler Road 
 
EXISTING USE:  Abandoned Single Family Homes 
 
CURRENT ZONING: “County” PD (“City” ZIP)  
 
PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Residential Subdivision (49 Single Family Lots) 
 
FUTURE LAND USE  
DESIGNATION: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0- 2.0 du/ac) 
 
TRACT SIZE:   Combined total Acreage: 58.23 +/- Total Acres (48.4 developable acres) 
     
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT:                  EXISTING: 49 Dwelling Units (as originally approved by the Orange County BCC; 

plans expired) 
    PROPOSED: 49 Dwelling Units 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer     Finance Dir.     Public Ser. Dir.  
Commissioners (4)    HR Director     City Clerk 
Interim CA      IT Director     Fire Chief 
Community Dev. Dir.    Police Chief  
 
 
G:\Shared\4020\PLANNING_ZONING\Rezoning\2014\Florida Land Trust #111\Florida Land Trust #111 ZON CC 11-19-14 2nd Rd 

 

 

Page 54



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
FLORIDA LAND TRUST #111, c/o ZDA AT SANDPIPER, LLC, TRUSTEE – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  

 

The subject property is located on the south side of Sandpiper Street, west of North Thompson Road, and east of Ustler 

Road.  Development Standards for the Master Site Plan\Preliminary Development Plan are provided within the PUD 

ordinance.   A general description of the proposed residential community is provided below: 

 

Lots:  49 single family lots. 

 

Min. Lot Area:  PUD Master Plan sets lots ranging from 11,691 to 29,618 sq. ft.   

   Minimum developable lot area is 11,500 sq. ft.; 10,000 sq. ft. for lots containing wetlands 

 

Min. Lot Width:  75 ft. 

 

Min. Living Area: 2,200 sq. ft.  (the applicant proposed this minimum at the Planning Commission hearing) 

 

Density:  1.01 dwelling units (du) per acre (49 du\48.4 developable acres) 

 

Access: All lots access an internal road.  A single entrance road connects to Sandpiper Road.  No lots or 

new roads will connect to Ustler Road. 

 

Park: A minimum area of 15,000 sq. ft. will be provided for active recreation.  The park site plan will 

be submitted with the final development plan.  Park to be located in Tract “A”. 

 
Buffers: 1. Sandpiper Road.  A ten foot wide landscape tract, owned by the HOA, follows the south 
 side of Sandpiper Road from the northeast corner of the project site westward  behind  to 

the project Lots 6 through 12.  The design of the buffer will follow that which appears in 
Exhibit “B”, Northern Landscape Buffer, and will contain a six-foot high shrub (within 
two years of planting, a tri-rail country style fence with stone or brick posts, and canopy 
trees or understory trees where suitable (taking into consideration the overhead power 
lines).  West of the project entrance, a tri-rail fence will extend westward to the open 
space area.    

 
2. Eastern project line. No buffer tract or easement.  The residential lots in this development 

project abut residential lots typically 1.3 to 1.7 acres in size. No buffer is required by 
code. 

  
3. Southern project line.  A thirty foot wide conservation easement follows the rear of Lots 

23 through 31 and the side yard or Lots 15 and 16.  This conservation easement is to be 
left in it natural vegetation and is assigned to the HOA.  No pools, fences, or other 
accessory structures can be placed within the 30-foot wide conservation easement. 

 
4. Western project line.  Approximately 15 acres are preserved as open space\recreation 

from Ustler Road eastward for a distance of approximately 640 feet. 
 

Lake Access: Only owners of Lots 32 through 39 – eight lots -- are allowed access to Lake McCoy. Boat docks 

are allowed only for these eight lots.  A maximum 15 foot wide path can be cleared across 

wetlands to reach the lake, subject to Water Management District approval. 

 

Sidewalks: Sidewalks are provided on both sides of internal streets and along Sandpiper Street.  In lieu of 

constructing sidewalks along Ustler Road, developer shall pay to the City an amount to cover the  

sidewalk cast, per the rates established by the Public Services Department.  

 

Page 55



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
FLORIDA LAND TRUST #111, c/o ZDA AT SANDPIPER, LLC, TRUSTEE – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 3 
 
 

The PUD Development Standards, as appearing in the PDP Master Site Plan, are provided in Exhibit “A”. 

 

Modifications to the Master Site Plan:  Any zoning or development standard not addressed within the PDP Master Site 

Plan shall follow the requirements of the R-1A zoning category.  Where any development standard conflicts between 

the PDP Master Site Plan and the Land Development Code, the PDP Master Site Plan shall preside.  Any proposed 

revision to the Master Site Plan shall be evaluated and processed pursuant to Section 2.02.18.N. (Master plan revision), 

LDC. 

 

In conjunction with state requirements, staff has analyzed the proposed amendment and determined that adequate 

public facilities exist to support this change of zoning (see attached Zoning Report). 

 

PUD RECOMMENDATIONS:  

 

The recommendations are that the zoning classification of the aforementioned properties be designated as Planned Unit 

Development (PUD), as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code, and with the following Master Plan 

provisions are subject to the following provisions: 

 

A. The uses permitted within the PUD district shall be:  single family homes and associated accessory uses or 

structures consistent with land use and development standards established for the R-1A zoning category except 

where otherwise addressed in this ordinance. 

 

B.   Master Plan requirements, as enumerated in Section 2.02.18 K. of the Apopka Land Development Code, not 

addressed herein are hereby deferred until the submittal and review of the Final Development Plan submitted in 

association with the PUD district.  

 

C.   If a Final Development Plan associated with the PUD district has not been approved by the City within two 

years after approval of these Master Plan provisions, the approval of the Master Site Plan\PDP provisions will 

expire.   At such time, the City Council may: 

 

1.  Permit a single six-month extension for submittal of the required Final Development Plan; 

 

2.  Allow the PUD zoning designation to remain on the property pending resubmittal of new Master Site Plan 

provisions and any conditions of approval; or 

 

3.  Rezone the property to a more appropriate zoning classification. 

 

D. The following PUD development standards shall apply to the development of the subject property: 

 

1. Development standards are established within the PUD/PDP Master Site Plan. 

 

2. Unless otherwise addressed within the PUD development standards, the R-1A zoning standards will apply to 

the subject property. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed Change of Zoning designation is consistent with the 

City’s proposed Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the Future 

Land Use policies. 

 

 

 

Page 56



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
FLORIDA LAND TRUST #111, c/o ZDA AT SANDPIPER, LLC, TRUSTEE – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 4 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  Staff has notified Orange County Public Schools (OCPS) of the proposed Zoning 

Map Amendment. Prior to submittal of a final development plan application, the applicant must obtain a school 

capacity enhancement or mitigation agreement from OCPS.  Affected Schools:  Dream Lake ES, Apopka MS, Apopka 

HS. 

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County before any public hearing or 

advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on August 15, 2014. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

September 9, 2014 – Planning Commission (5:01 pm) 

September 17, 2014 – City Council (8:00 pm) – Remanded back to Planning Commission 

October 21, 2014 – Planning Commission (5:01 pm) 

November 5, 2014 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 1
st
 Reading 

November 19 2014 – City Council (8:00 pm) - 2
nd

 Reading 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

August 22, 2014 – Public Notice and Notification 

August 29, 2014 – Public Notice 

October 3, 2014 – Public Notice 

November 7, 2014 – Ordinance Heading Ad 

  

Page 57



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
FLORIDA LAND TRUST #111, c/o ZDA AT SANDPIPER, LLC, TRUSTEE – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 5 
 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Change in Zoning from “County” PD (ZIP) (Residential) to 

“City” Planned Unit Development (PUD/R-1A) (Residential) for the property owned by Florida Land Trust #111, c/o ZDA at 

Sandpiper, LLC, Trustee, and the Master Site Plan\Preliminary Development Plan subject to the Staff Recommendations and the 

applicant obtaining a School Capacity Enhancement Agreement from OCPS.  

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on September 9, 2014, elected to not approve (6-0) the Change in Zoning from “County” 

PD (ZIP) (Residential) to “City” Planned Unit Development (PUD/R-1A) (Residential) for the property owned by Florida Land 

Trust #111, c/o ZDA at Sandpiper, LLC, Trustee, and the Master Site Plan\Preliminary Development Plan.  

 

The City Council, at its meeting on September 17, 2014, directed staff to return the item to the Planning Commission for a “Findings 

of Fact” of their decision to not approve the Change in Zoning from “County” PD (ZIP) (Residential) to “City” Planned Unit 

Development (PUD/R-1A) (Residential) for the property owned by Florida Land Trust #111, c/o ZDA at Sandpiper, LLC, Trustee, 

and the Master Site Plan\Preliminary Development Plan subject to the Staff Recommendations and the applicant obtaining a School 

Capacity Enhancement Agreement from OCPS.  

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on October 21, 2014, recommended: [The City Attorney, at the November 5, 2014, 

City Council meeting, advised the City Council that, due to conflicts with procedural requirements, the Council was to 

disregard the Planning Commission recommendations.] 

 

1. To deny (6-1) the Change in Zoning from “County” PD (ZIP) (Residential) to “City” Planned Unit Development (PUD/R-

1A) (Residential) for the property owned by Florida Land Trust #111, c/o ZDA at Sandpiper, LLC, Trustee based on the 

following Findings of Fact: 

 

a. Project is not compatible with the surrounding neighborhood because: 

i. The average lot size across the street from this project and along Ustler and Tangelwilde is 1.93 acres. 

ii. The average lot size on Sir Arthur Court, Camelot Subdivision, is 1.21 acres. 

iii. The average lot size in Wekiva Landing, a spur off of Oak Pointe Estates, is 1.63 acres. 

iv. The average lot size in Oak Pointe Estates is 1.24 acres.   

 

2. To approve (7-0) the Change in Zoning from “County” PD (ZIP) (Residential) to “City” Planned Unit Development 

(PUD/R-1A) (Residential) for the property owned by Florida Land Trust #111, c/o ZDA at Sandpiper, LLC, Trustee, subject 

to a minimum Lot Size of 22,000 square feet; staff’s PUD recommendations and the sidewalk along Sandpiper Street; and 

the developer’s proposed conditions, with the exception of the minimum lot size of a tri-rail fence with dense landscaping 

buffer to reach six feet in height within two years; 2,200 square foot minimum living areas; to be a gated community and all 

language in the conditions of approval to be consistent with gating; at least 500 square feet of driveway pavers per house or 

side-loaded/courtyard entry for each house, to be decided on a house-by-house basis by the builder; and installation of stop 

signs at the corner of Ustler and Sandpiper. 

 

The City Council, at its meeting on November 5, 2014, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2386 and held it over for 

Second Reading and Adoption on November 19, 2014. 

 

Adopt Ordinance No. 2386 and the PUD Master Plan. 

 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into and made a part 

of the minutes of this meeting. Role of the Planning Commission is this case is advisory to the City Council.  Page 58



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
FLORIDA LAND TRUST #111, c/o ZDA AT SANDPIPER, LLC, TRUSTEE – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

ZONING REPORT 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) Res. Low Density (4 du/ac) A-1, A-2 SF Homes 

East (County) Res. Low Density (4 du/ac) A-1, RCE SF Homes 

South (County) Res. Low Density (4 du/ac) A-2, RCE, R-1AAAA SF Homes 

South (City) Res. Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) R-1AAA SF Homes 

West (City) Res. Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) RCE-1, R-1AAAA SF Homes 

West (County) Res. Low Density (4 du/ac) A-2 SF Homes 

 
LAND USE &  
TRAFFIC COMPATIBILITY:  The properties are located south of West Lester Road and east of Vick Road. 
 
R-1A DISTRICT  
REQUIREMENTS*:  Minimum Site Area:  10,000 sq. ft. (Sandpiper PUD- 12,800 sq. ft.) 
     Minimum Lot Width:  85 ft. (Sandpiper PUD- 75 ft.) 
     Front Setback:   25 ft. 
     Side Setback:   10 ft.        
     Rear Setback:   20 ft. 
     Corner Setback:  25 ft. 
     Minimum Living Area: 1,600 sq. ft. (Sandpiper PUD- 2,200 sq. ft.) 
 
 * PUD development standards set forth in Exhibit “F” may differ from these 

typical R-1A standards.  Where such standards differ, the PUD standards shall 
preside.  Where the PUD does not specifically address a development or zoning 
standard, the R-1A zoning standards and Land Development Code shall preside. 

BUFFERYARD  
REQUIREMENTS:   Sandpiper Proposed PUD requirements:   
 

a. 30-foot wide buffer easement along the south property line as set forth in 
the Master Plan. Easement dedicated to the HOA. 

 
b. 10-foot wide buffer tract with six-foot high hedge (within 2 years from 

planting) that creates a near-opaque screen, canopy trees, and a tri-rail 
fence with masonry or brick posts. 

  
ALLOWABLE USES:    Single-family dwellings and their customary accessory structures and uses in 

accordance with article VII of this code. Supporting infrastructure and public 
facilities of less than five acres as defined in this code and in accordance with 
section 2.02.01, LDC. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 59



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
FLORIDA LAND TRUST #111, c/o ZDA AT SANDPIPER, LLC, TRUSTEE – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 7 
 

 

Florida Land Trust #111, c/o ZDA at Sandpiper, LLC, Trustee 
58.23 +/- Total Acres; 48.4 Developable Acres 

Existing Zoning Maximum Allowable Development: 49 Dwelling Units 
Proposed Zoning Maximum Allowable Development: up to 49 Dwelling Units 

Proposed Zoning Change 
From: “County” PD (ZIP) 

To: “City” Planned Unit Development (PUD/R-1A) 
   Parcel ID #s: 02-21-28-0000-00-106 02-21-28-0000-00-131 
      03-21-28-0000-00-015 03-21-28-0000-00-022 
      03-21-28-0000-00-023 03-21-28-0000-00-046 
      03-21-28-0000-00-047 03-21-28-0000-00-072 
      03-21-28-0000-00-073 03-21-28-0000-00-119 

 
 

VICINITY MAP 
 

  

Subject Property 

Page 60



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
FLORIDA LAND TRUST #111, c/o ZDA AT SANDPIPER, LLC, TRUSTEE – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 8 
 
 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

  

Subject Property 

Page 61



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
FLORIDA LAND TRUST #111, c/o ZDA AT SANDPIPER, LLC, TRUSTEE – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 9 
 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

Page 62



ORDINANCE NO. 2386 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING THE 

ZONING FROM “COUNTY” PD TO “CITY” PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT (PUD/R-1A) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 

GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF SANDPIPER STREET, WEST OF 

NORTH THOMPSON ROAD, EAST OF USTLER ROAD, COMPRISING 58.23 

ACRES, MORE OR LESS AND OWNED BY FLORIDA LAND TRUST #111 - 

ZDA AT SANDPIPER, LLC; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, 

AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest of 

the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the City; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed Planned Unit Development (PUD/R-1A) zoning has been found to 

be consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 

Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I.  That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated as 

Planned Unit Development (PUD/R-1A), as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code, and with 

the following Master Plan provisions subject to the following zoning provisions: 

 

A. The uses permitted within the PUD district shall be:  single family homes and associated 

accessory uses or structures consistent with land use and development standards established for 

the R-1A zoning category except where otherwise addressed in this ordinance. 

 

B.   Development of the property shall occur consistent with the Master Site Plan set forth in 

Exhibit “A”.  Development standards applicable to the Sandpiper Master Site Plan are set forth 

within Exhibit “B”.   If a development standard or zoning regulation is not addressed within 

Exhibit “B”, development shall comply with the R-1A zoning standards set forth in the Land 

Development Code.  Where any development standard conflicts between the Sandpiper Master 

Site Plan and the Land Development Code, the Master Site Plan shall preside.  Any proposed 

revision to the Master Site Plan shall be evaluated and processed pursuant to Section 2.02.18.N. 

(Master plan revision), LDC. 

 

C.   If a Final Development Plan associated with the PUD district has not been approved by the City 

within two years after approval of these Master Plan provisions, the approval of the Master Site 

Plan\PDP provisions will expire.   At such time, the City Council may: 

 

1.  Permit a single six-month extension for submittal of the required Final Development Plan; 

 

Page 63



ORDINANCE NO. 2386 

PAGE 2 

 

2.  Allow the PUD zoning designation to remain on the property pending resubmittal of new 

Master Site Plan provisions and any conditions of approval; or 

 

3.  Rezone the property to a more appropriate zoning classification. 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification of the following described property, being situated in 

the City of Apopka, Florida, is hereby Planned Unit Development (PUD/R-1A) as defined in the 

Apopka Land Development Code. 

 

 Legal Description: 

 

The Northeast ¼ of the Southeast ¼ of the Northeast ¼ of Section 3, Township 21 

South, Range 28 East, Orange County, Florida. 

 

The West 275.0 feet of the Northwest ¼ of the Southwest ¼ of the Northwest ¼ of 

Section 2, Township 21 South, Range 28 East, Orange County, Florida, less the North 

30 feet thereof. 

 

The West ½ of the North ½ of the Southeast ¼ of the Northeast ¼ of Section 3, 

Township 21 South, Range 28 East, Orange County, Florida, LESS, the North 330 feet 

of the East 200 feet of the West 220 feet thereof, AND LESS the North 30 feet thereof. 

 

That part of the Southwest ¼ of the Northwest ¼ of Section 2, Township 21 South, 

Range 28 East, Orange County, Florida, beginning at a point South 00 degrees 02 

minutes 00 seconds West, 30.0 feet and North 89 degrees 35 minutes 59 seconds East, 

550.0 feet from the Northwest corner of said Southwest ¼ of the Northwest ¼, run 

North 89 degrees 35 minutes 59 seconds East, 108.90 feet along the South line of 

Sandpiper Road; thence run South 00 degrees 01 minutes 08 seconds West, 312.00 feet; 

thence run North 89 degrees 35 minutes 59 seconds East, 193.00 feet; thence run South 

00 degrees 03 minutes 49 seconds West, 320.19 feet; thence run South 89 degrees 35 

minutes 00 seconds West, 301.81 feet; thence run North 00 degrees 02 minutes 00 

seconds East, 632.27 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

ALSO: The East 275.0 feet of the West 550.00 feet of the Northwest ¼ of the 

Southwest ¼ of the Northwest ¼ of Section 2, Township 21 South, Range 28 East, 

Orange County, Florida, less the North 30 feet thereof for Sandpiper Road. 

 

The Northeast ¼ of the Southwest ¼ of the Northeast ¼ of Section 3, Township 21 

South, Range 28 East, Orange County, Florida; less the North 30 feet thereof. 

 
The North 330.00 feet of the West 220.00 feet of the West ½ of the North ½ of the 
Southeast ¼ of the Northeast ¼ of Section 3, Township 21 South, Range 28 East, 
Orange County, Florida, LESS the North 30.00 feet thereof, AND LESS the West 20.00 
feet thereof. 
 

The West 145 feet of North 643 Feet of the West ½ of the Southwest ¼ of the Northeast 

¼ of Section 3-21-28 (Less R/W on North & West)  

 

Page 64



ORDINANCE NO. 2386 

PAGE 3 

 

Parcel ID Nos.: 02-21-28-0000-00-106; 02-21-28-0000-00-131; 03-21-28-0000-00-

015; 03-21-28-0000-00-022; 03-21-28-0000-00-023; 03-21-28-0000-00-046; 03-21-28-

0000-00-047; 03-21-28-0000-00-072; 03-21-28-0000-00-073; and 03-21-28-0000-00-

119 

Combined Acreage 57.7 +/- Acres 

 

 Section III.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section IV.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is hereby 

authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, Florida, to 

include said designation. 

 

 Section V. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves to 

be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, force 

or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this ordinance. 

 

 Section VI.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.   

 

 Section VII.  That this Ordinance shall take effect upon the date of adoption. 
 
 

                       
 
 
 

       _____________________________________ 
       Joseph E. Kilsheimer, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Clifford B. Shepard, City Attorney 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: August 22, 2014 
    September 19, 2014 
    October 3, 2014 
    November 7, 2014 
 

READ FIRST TIME:   
November 5, 2014 

READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     November 19, 2014 

Page 65



 

  
EXHIBIT “A” 

Page 66



 

  

Page 67



 

  

Page 68



 

  

Page 69



 

  

Page 70



 

  

Page 71



 

 

 

Page 72



1 
 

EXHIBIT “B” 
 

                     SANDPIPER MASTER SITE PLAN DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

 

 

A.  Design Standards 

1. LOT SETBACKS: 

  Front-   25’ 

  Side -    7.5' 

      Lots 15, 16-  37.5’ 

      Lots 5, 6, 21, 22 - 0’ adjacent to the gas line easement 

Corner Lot -     25' 

  Rear -    20' (lots 1-22, 32-49) 

     50' (lots 23-31) 

  Lk. McCoy NHWE-   50' 

            

Garage Setbacks 

  Front entry:     30’ 

  Side entry:  25’ 

 

2.   The minimum lot width for lots 6 through 12 and 23 through 31 will be 110 feet at the building 

setback line. The minimum lot width for all other lots will be 75 feet.  The minimum lot depth will 

be 140 feet.  

3. Maximum Building Height:   35' 

4. Maximum number of Stories: Two 

5. Minimum Lot Area:   11,500 sq. ft; 10,000 sq. ft. for lots 31 to 39 (area outside SJRWMD 

wetland line and its designated upland buffer.) 

6. Minimum Living Area;  2,200 sq. ft. under heat and air. 

7. Each house to have a two car garage (minimum). 

8. Any modification to the PUD Master Plan shall be reviewed according to Section 2.02.18.N, Land 

Development Code. 

 

B.  Buildings and Accessory Structures 

1.   Home design shall meet the intent of the City’s Development Design Guidelines. 

2. Pools, sheds, buildings, gazebos, fences and other accessory structures are prohibited in the side 

yard setbacks and within the 30 foot conservation easement at the rear of lots 23 to 31. 

3. Existing structures will be removed prior to platting.. 

 

C.   Utilities and Infrastructure 

1. Water service shall be provided by the City of Apopka.  The water system shall be designed to city 

standards. 

2. An oversize agreement is necessary to install 12" diameter  force main along sandpiper road. 

3. Storm water management system shall be designed to comply with the requirements of the City of 

Apopka and St. Johns River Water Management District. 

4. A final drainage report and soils report will be submitted with final development plans 

5. Sanitary service shall be provided by the City of Apopka. The sanitary system shall be designed to 

city standards.  

5.  Utility easements to be dedicated to the City of Apopka. 

Page 73



2 
 

6. Drainage easements to be dedicated to the home owners association unless otherwise accepted by 

the City of Apopka. 

7. All stormwater and utility pipes may be moved to save existing trees in the right-of-way.  Any 

change in the location of these pipes will be shown on the final engineering plans. 

8. On-site streets are to be constructed per City of Apopka standards. 

9. A signage plan will be provided with the final development plan submittal. 

10. Entrance gate shall conform to city codes.  Entrance gate to be equipped with emergency access 

system through an opti-com type visual gate activation and yelp siren. There must also be a 

keypad with an emergency access code. 

11. A blanket ingress/egress easement will be granted for access to the city over Tract F. 

12. Stabilized access roadways and fire hydrants must be in place before building construction may 

begin 

13. Street names will be provided with the final development plans 

14. Solid waste collection and public safety (police and fire) provided  by the City of Apopka. 

15. All/any overhead utility lines must be placed underground, coordination with City’s Public 

Service Dept. 

16. At this time the proposed street right-of-way is to be private with an entrance gate;  

17.      A five (5) foot wide sidewalks to be constructed adjacent to internal roads throughout the entire 

project in compliance with the City of Apopka Land Development Code.  Sidewalk alignment 

may be adjusted at final development plan to preserve existing trees. 

18. In lieu of installation of sidewalk along Ustler Road, the owner may pay into the city sidewalk 

fund at the rate of $3.50/sf for 4" thick sidewalk and $4.25 for 6" sidewalk. 

19. A five-foot wide sidewalk shall be constructed along Sandpiper Road from Ustler Road to the 

northeast corner of the project boundary. 

 

D.  Recreation, Open Space, Lake Access 

1. The active park area shall be a minimum of 15,000 sq.ft. within Tract “A”.  A park site plan and 

recreation equipment shall be provided with the Final Development Plan.  Design of the park shall 

comply with the Land Development Code. 

2.   Only the eight lot owners who will have lots backing up to Lake McCoy will have access to the 

lake and be able to build private docks to access said lake. All eight lot owners will be required to 

join the Lake McCoy taxing district. No other docks or recreation will be allowed from this 

development.  Dock details will be evaluated with the final development plan and is to include 

language allowing a 15-foot wide access to the lake for each lot. 

3. A Park site plan and recreational amenities will be provided with final development plans.  

4. Project open space: 

 Required = 20% min. per LDC 

 Provided = 45.85% (26.70 acs.). 

 

E.  Buffers and  Landscaping 

1. A 30 foot wide conservation easement will be provided on the back of Lots along the southern 

property line, except against lake, wetland, retention, or gas easement. Easement shall be 

dedicated to the HOA.  (The 30-foot conservation easement is not a required SJRWMD easement.) 

No building, fence, gazebo, swimming pool, or accessory structure shall be placed within the 

thirty-foot conservation easement.  The buffer shall remain as natural vegetated buffer. Trees that 

that are removed shall be replaced.  Any removal of trees or vegetation within the bufferyard must 

be approved by the HOA and the City of Apopka.    Easement boundary markers will be placed at 

Page 74



3 
 

the interior of the easement line along the side lot line for all lots (Lots 23 to 31, and 15, 16) 

abutting the 30-foot conservation easement. 

3.  A ten (10) foot wide buffer tract for landscaping will be provided on the northern property line, 

except against lake, wetland, retention, or gas easement.  This tract shall be dedicated to and 

maintained by the HOA.  The design of this buffer shall generally follow the landscape design 

appearing in Exhibit “B.1”.   A tri-trail fence that is supported by a brick or stone post shall extend 

from the northeast project boundary westward to the beginning of the designated open space area. 

4.  Entrance feature and community sign will be provided with final development plans.   

5. Final landscape plans for the buffer area along Sandpiper Street will be provided with the final 

development plans. 

 

F.  Maintenance and Plat  

1.   Home owners association will maintain all common areas, roads, and walls.  

2. The final development plan shall include the plat document, and the plat shall be in final form. 

3. Lots 5, 6, 21, and 22 have access to the gas easement surface area as allowed by the recorded 

easement.  Easement details will be provided with the final development plan. 

 

G.  Wetlands and Environmental 

1. All acreage regarding developable and conservation areas (wetlands and buffers) are considered 

approximate until finalized during a review by the St. Johns River Water Management District and 

the City of Apopka. The SJRWMD concurrency will be provided at final plan review.   

2. The jurisdictional wetland areas are to be placed in a conservation easement. 

3. Any development in a special flood hazard area will require the finish floor elevation to be 20-

inches above the 100 yr. Flood elevation, minimum. 

4. An erosion protection plan will be submitted with final development plans.  

5. The habitat inventory and management report shall be provided to the city at the final 

development plan stage.  

6. Tree removal, tree replacement, and landscaping shall be in conformance with Article V of the 

City of Apopka Land Development Code.   

7.  Individual lot arbor/clearing permit is required prior to clearing or grading of any lot or issuance of 

building permit. Placement of the house shall preserve existing trees to the greatest extent 

practical.  Plot plan for each lot shall illustrate tree locations as presented within the PUD Master 

Plan\Preliminary Development Plan.  

8.  In order to save existing trees stem walls/retaining walls may be utilized on individual lots.   

9.  The 25 foot wide (average)/15 foot wide minimum wetland buffer/conservation easement within 

Lots 32 to 39 and Tract A is to be dedicated to the SJRWMD.  Lot owners may not clear any 

vegetation within the conservation easement on their lot except to accommodate a maximum 15 

foot wide path to reach the water’s edge.  

 

H.  Development Condition Continuity.   The PUD Development Standards shall be printed within the 

PUD Master Plan and the Final Development Plan. 

Page 75



 

Page 76



Page 77



Page 78 
 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

2. ORDINANCE NO. 2388 – SECOND READING & ADOPTION - Amending the City of 

Apopka, Code of Ordinances, Part III, Land Development Code, Section III – Overlay 

Zones - To create a new Section 3.05 entitled “Designated Grow Area Overlay 

District.” [Ordinance No. 2388 meets the requirements for adoption having been 

advertised in The Apopka Chief on November 7, 2014.] 

  

Page 78



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: November 19, 2014 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Ordinance No. 2388 

X OTHER: Ordinance    Exhibit “A” FAQ 

    Exhibit “B” News Coverage 

    Exhibit “C” F.S. §381 

 
   Exhibit “D” Amend 2 Ballot  

             Information 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: ORDINANCE NO. 2388 – AMENDING THE CITY OF APOPKA, CODE OF ORDINANCES, 

PART III, LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, SECTION III – OVERLAY ZONES - TO CREATE A 

NEW SECTION 3.05 TITLED “DESIGNATED GROW AREA OVERLAY DISTRICT.”  

 

Request: SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE NO. 2388 - AMENDING THE CITY OF 

APOPKA, CODE OF ORDINANCES, PART III, LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, SECTION III 

– OVERLAY ZONES - TO CREATE A NEW SECTION 3.05 TITLED “DESIGNATED GROW 

AREA OVERLAY DISTRICT.” 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY: 

 

On June 16, 2014, Governor Scott signed the Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 into law, allowing for the 

cultivation, processing and dispensing of low THC cannabis beginning January 1, 2015.  Administrative Rules have been 

established by the Florida Department of Health (FDH) to govern operation of low-THC marijuana businesses.  The Act 

authorizes the FDH to limit dispensing operations to five organizations or licenses in Florida – one per each of five 

regional districts.  However, legal battles have already commenced to challenge the license limitation. Costa Farms of 

South Florida, who acquired the Herman Engelmann nursery business in Apopka this past year, is referenced in reports 

from several news organizations that it intends to legally challenge the State’s limitation on the number of licenses that 

can be issued. 

 

On November 4
th
 of this year, registered voters will have the opportunity to act on a Ballot Amendment 2, which 

addresses medical marijuana in general.  The Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 is unrelated and separate 

from the November ballot.  While the Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 allows only low-THC marijuana, 

the November ballot will allow for all levels of THC marijuana.  Administrative rules have not yet been prepared by the 

FDH to address the November ballot marijuana. 

 

Regardless of rules and requirements that the State has established for the Act of 2014 or may establish if the November 

ballot is adopted, legal challenges against the State could result is Court rulings that control weaken State control.  As 

Florida Statutes delegates authority to local governments to address matters such as land use and zoning, in addition to 

other powers.  The proposed medical marijuana ordinance limits the cultivation, processing and dispensing of medical 

marijuana to two geographical areas of the City.  Each area, known as a “Designated Grow Area” comprises about 450 

to 500 acres.  Cultivation, processing, or dispensing of non-medical marijuana is prohibited in the City of Apopka, as 

proposed in the ordinance. 

 

 

DISTRIBUTION: 

Mayor Kilsheimer  Finance Director  Fire Chief 

Commissioners (4)  HR Director  Public Ser. Director 

Interim CA  IT Director  City Clerk 

Community Dev. Director  Police Chief   
Page 79



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 

GROW AREA OVERLAY DISTRICT  

PAGE 2 

 
Information regarding the pro’s and con’s of medical marijuana are provided with the support material.  These 

documents include:  

 

Exhibit “A” - FAQS on Low THC-cannabis 

Exhibit “B” - News Coverage – Pro’s and Con’s of Medical Marijuana and other information 

Exhibit “C” - Florida Statute 381 

Exhibit “D” - Florida Amendment 2 Ballot Language 
 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

November 5, 2014 - City Council 1st Reading (1:30 pm)  

November 10, 2014 - Planning Commission (5:01 pm) 

November 19, 2014 – City Council 2
nd

 Reading (8:00 pm) 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

October 17, 2014 – Public Hearing Notice 

November 7, 2014 – Ordinance Heading  
 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

 

The City Council, at its meeting on November 5, 2014, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2388 and Held it 

Over for Third Reading and Adoption on November 19, 2014, subject to the recommendation of the Planning 

Commission. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 10, 2014, recommended approval (5-0) of the amendment to the 

City of Apopka, Code of Ordinances, Part III, Land Development Code, Section III – Overlay Zones – to create a new 

Section 3.05 entitled “Designated Grow Area Overlay District.” 

 

Adopt Ordinance No. 2388. 

 

Page 80



ORDINANCE NO. 2388 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AFFECTING THE 

USE OF LAND IN THE CITY OF APOPKA, AMENDING ARTICLE III OF 

THE LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE TO INCLUDE A NEW SECTION 3.05 

TITLED “DESIGNATED GROW AREA OVERLAY DISTRICT”, PROVIDING 

THAT CANNABIS CULTIVATION AND PROCESSING AND MARIJUANA 

DISPENSARIES/MEDICAL TREATMENT CENTERS ARE SPECIAL 

EXCEPTION USES WITHIN A “DESIGATION GROW AREA OVERLAY 

DISTRICT” AND PROHIBITING SUCH USES WITHIN ANY OTHER 

ZONING DISTRICTS OR LOCATIONS WITHIN THE JURISDICTION OF 

APOPKA; PROVIDING ADDITIONAL STANDARDS AND CONSIDERATION 

FOR APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL EXCEPTION FOR  CANNABIS 

CULTIVATION OR PROCESSING  OR  MARIJUANA DISPENSARY\ 

MEDICAL MARIJUANA TREATMENT CENTER; PROVIDING 

DEFINITIONS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY, 

CONDITIONS; AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the State of Florida is considering legalizing the cultivation and processing of 

cannabis and the dispensing of marijuana; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the purpose and intent of this Ordinance is to regulate the cultivation and 

processing of cannabis and the dispensing of non-medical\medical marijuana in order to promote the 

health, safety, morals, and general welfare of the residents and businesses within the City. 

  

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that it is in the best interest of the citizenry and 

general public to regulate the location of cannabis cultivation and processing and marijuana 

dispensaries/medical marijuana treatment centers in the event the State of Florida legalizes said 

dispensaries, whether for medical use or non-medical use; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council has the responsibility and authority to determine what uses are 

best suited to particular zoning categories as well as land use categories within the City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that given the potential impact on the 

surrounding area, cannabis cultivation and processing and marijuana dispensaries/medical marijuana 

treatment centers should only be permitted within a limited areas of the municipal limits, and non-

medical marijuana sales should be prohibited within the municipal limits; 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that it is advisable and in the public interest to 

set certain distance and other siting standards in regard to the location and operation of cannabis 

cultivation or processing or marijuana dispensaries/medical marijuana treatment centers; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka finds that this ordinance promotes the 

general welfare and is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF APOPKA, 

FLORIDA, as follows: 

 

 

 Page 81



ORDINANCE NO.  2388 
PAGE 2 
 

 

 

 

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS: 
 

a.  Agriculture:  means the science and art of production of plant(s) and animals useful to 
humans, including to a variable extent the preparation of these products for human use and 
their disposal by marketing or otherwise, and includes aquaculture, horticulture, 
floriculture, viticulture, forestry, dairy, livestock, poultry, bees, and any and all forms of 
farm products and farm production, including hay or grass harvesting and bailing operation.  
For the purposes of marketing and promotional activities, seafood shall also be included in 
this definition. 

 
b.   Cannabis:  Any plant(s) or part of a plant(s) of the genus Cannabis, whether growing or not; 

the seeds thereof; the resin extracted from any part of the plant(s); and every compound, 
manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the plant(s) or its seeds or resin. 

 
c.  Cannabis Cultivation:  the planting, tending, improving, farming, drying or harvesting of 

cannabis plants from seed, juvenile stock, or grafting. 
 
d.  Cannabis Processing:  the preparation of the cannabis plant intended for use as medicine or 

medical purposes as prescribed by a licensed Florida physician. 
 
e. Designated Grow Area (DGA) Overlay District.  The following areas are defined as a 

“Designated Grow Area” Overlay District: 
 

1) Keene/Clarcona DGA: All Agriculture or Industrial zoned property in the general area 
west of the S.R. 414 bridge at E. Keene Road, east of McQueen Road, and south of S.R. 
414, as depicted in Map A: Keene\Clarcona Road DGA as delineated in Map A: 
Keene\Clarcona DGA. 

 
2) Hermit Smith\Hogshead DGA:  All Agriculture or Industrial zoned property within the 

area west of S.R. 429, south of U.S. 441, and north of Lust Road, as delineated in Map 
B: Hermit Smith\Hogshead DGA. 

 
f. Fully enclosed and secure structure: A space within a building, greenhouse or other 

structure which has a complete roof enclosure supported by connecting walls extending 
from the ground to the roof, which is secure against unauthorized entry, provides complete 
visual screening, and which is accessible only through one or more lockable doors. 

 
g. Horticulture Nursery: an agriculture operation limited to the cultivation of fruits, 

vegetables, nuts, seeds, herbs, sprouts, mushrooms, algae, flowers, seaweeds and non-food 
crops such as grass and ornamental trees and plants. 

 
h. Marijuana Dispensary:  A facility that is operated by an organization or business holding all 

necessary licenses and permits from which marijuana, cannabis, cannabis-based products, 
or cannabis plant(s) are delivered, purchased, possessed, or dispensed for medical purposes 
and operated in accordance with all local and state laws. 

 
i. Marijuana Treatment Center:   A medical marijuana dispensary where qualifying patients 

are administered medical marijuana by medical professional licensed by the State of 
Florida to patients in accordance with all local and state laws. 

 

Page 82



ORDINANCE NO.  2388 
PAGE 3 
 

 

 

 

j. Medical Use:  The prescriptive use of any form of cannabis to treat a qualifying medical 
condition and the symptoms associated with that condition or to alleviate the side effects of 
a qualifying medical treatment, as identified by a physician licensed by the State of Florida. 

 
k. Non-Medical Marijuana Sales. The purchase, sale, transfer or delivery of marijuana, 

cannabis, cannabis-based products or cannabis plant(s) when such sale, transfer or delivery 
is not associated with any medical purpose or use, whether or not such purchase, sale, 
transfer or delivery is lawful under state law. 

 
SECTION 2. CANNABIS CULTIVATION AND PROCESSIONG PROHIBITED.  

Cultivation or processing of cannabis for non-medical marijuana purposes is prohibited within the City 
of Apopka.  Excepting the Designated Grow Areas described in Sec. 3a., cultivation or processing of 
cannabis for medical use is prohibited in all other areas of the City of Apopka.  It is hereby declared to 
be unlawful and a public nuisance for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge or 
possession of any parcel in the City of Apopka to cause or allow such parcel to be used for the 
cultivation or processing of cannabis plants within a fully enclosed and secure structure on the parcel, 
except as outlined below in Section 3. 
  

SECTION 3.  CANNABIS CULTIVATION AND PROCESSING.      
 

a. Cultivation or processing of cannabis for medical marijuana is allowed as a Special 
Exception use approved by the Planning Commission within an Agriculture or Industrial I-
1 district located within a DGA as delineated in Maps “A” and “B”.  If a parcel, lot, or legal 
lot-of-record straddles the DGA boundary, no cultivation or processing can occur outside 
the DGA boundary. 

 
b. Horticulture Nursery Special Exception Prohibition.  Cultivation or processing of cannabis 

for medical or non-medical use is prohibited as a special exception use for horticulture 
nursery operations. Any Special Exception approved by the City prior to the effective date 
of this ordinance is not allowed to cultivate or process cannabis. 

c. Enclosed Cultivation.  Any cultivation of cannabis shall occur within a fully enclosed and 
secure structure.  Outdoor cultivation is prohibited 

d. Enclosed Processing.  All cannabis processing, laboratories, research activities and 
associated equipment occur within a fully enclosed and secured building that has been 
issued a building permit by the City of Apopka or Orange County.   

e. License.  A valid license must be obtained from the State of Florida and remain in effect 
during the operation of the cannabis business.  All cultivation and processing activities 
shall cease if a license has expired. At least seventy-two (72) hours before a cannabis 
cultivation or processing business terminates operation, the owner must notify the Police 
Chief of the City of Apopka. 

 
f.  Additional Special Exception Criteria:  

 
1). Street Access.  All cannabis cultivation and processing sites within the Keene\Clarcona 

DGA must directly access Keene Road or Clarcona Road.  All cannabis cultivation and 
processing sites within the Hermit Smith\Hogshead DGA must directly access Hermit 
Smith Road or Hogshead Road.   

 

Page 83



ORDINANCE NO.  2388 
PAGE 4 
 

 

 

 

A stabilized surface acceptable to the city engineer shall be provided from the public street 
to any onsite processing buildings. 

 
2)  Utilities.  All cannabis processing sites shall connect to a central water and sewer system 

unless otherwise temporarily waived by the City Administrator until a development 
agreement addresses a schedule for connecting the site to such services.   Onsite wells and 
septic tanks may be allowed on a temporary basis through a development agreement that 
ensures connection to a central water and sewer systems within five years.  

 
3)  Employee Parking.  All employee vehicle parking areas shall occur within a paved, lighted 

parking lot.    

4) Distance Separation.   Cultivation or processing buildings or structures shall be separated 
from other uses according to the following separation minimum standard: 

 Affected Property (feet) 

Location of 
Cultivation or 

Processing 
Buildings or 

Structure 

Vacant 
Parcel 

Assigned a 
Residential 

Zoning 
District 

Church or Place 
of Worship, 

School, Hospital, 
County or 

Municipal Park, 
Day Care (F.S. 

402.302)  

Platted 
Residential 

Subdivision; 
Residential 

Parcel less than 
5 acres 

Occupied 
Residential 

Parcel Greater 
than 5 acres 

Designated Grow 
Area 

100 1,000 250 200 

 

Distances shall be measured by drawing a straight line between the closest point of the 
cannabis cultivation or processing building or nursery structure  to the closest property line or 
edge of leased space (whichever is closer) of the affected property. 

5) Minimum Parcel Size.  A minimum parcel size necessary for cultivation, processing, or 
combined operations within a DGA is two (2) compact and contiguous acres. 

6) Parcel.  Cannabis cultivation or processing shall occur on a separate parcel, lot, or legal lot-
of-record than that on which a medical marijuana dispensaries/medical marijuana treatment 
centers is located. 

 
7) Signage.  No business identification sign (i.e., wall, monument, pole, directional) shall 

include the words “marijuana”, “cannabis”, or any similar related word, nor shall any 
graphic or illustration associated with such words appear in such signs for any business 
cultivation, processing or dispensing business.  An electronic reader board or changeable 
copy sign is not allowed on any property where cannabis is cultivated, processed, sold, or 
dispensed.   

 
8) Security and Safety Plan.  A security and safety plan will be reviewed and approved by the 

chief of police or designee.   The security and safety plan shall at minimum address but not 
be limited to, locking options, alarm systems, and video surveillance, and as otherwise 
determined necessary by the Police Chief.  Any such documents or information for review 

Page 84



ORDINANCE NO.  2388 
PAGE 5 
 

 

 

 

shall be transmitted directly to the police chief’s office for review and not attached to the 
permit as may be required by the Community Development Department. The police chief 
or designee will respond to the development review committee approval or denial of said 
plan. Any information, records, photographs, audio and visual presentations, schematic 
diagrams, surveys, recommendations, or consultations or portions thereof relating directly 
to the physical security of the facility or revealing security systems or other sensitive 
information gathered will be exempt from public records in accordance with FSS 119.071, 
“General exemptions from inspection or copying of public records.”  

 

SECTION 4. MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES/MEDICAL MARIJUANA TREATMENT 

CENTERS. 
 

a. Applicable Zoning District.  Marijuana dispensaries/medical marijuana treatment centers 
for marijuana medical use are allowed as a Special Exception within a Commercial C-1, 
Industrial I-1 or Agriculture District located within a Designated Grow Area subject to 
compliance with the standards set forth below.  

 
b. Prohibited Locations. Non-medical marijuana dispensaries/medical treatment centers or 

sales are prohibited within the jurisdictional area of the City of Apopka.  Medical 
Marijuana dispensaries/medical marijuana treatment centers are prohibited in the City of 
Apopka except as allowed in Section 4.a.   Zoning Districts where medical marijuana 
dispensaries/medical marijuana treatment centers are prohibited also include:   the 
Downtown Development Overlay District, Community Redevelopment Area (CRA), 
Planned Unit Development, Mixed-EC, and Mixed-CC zoning categories. 

 
c. No other business shall be permitted to be conducted from the same address where the 

marijuana dispensary/medical marijuana treatment center is located.  This requirement does 
not apply to licensed nursery businesses that were operating prior to the effective date of 
this ordinance. 

 
d. Any parking demand created by marijuana dispensary/medical marijuana treatment center 

shall not exceed the parking spaces located or allocated on site, as required by the city's 
parking regulations. 

 
e. Controlled Substances.  The onsite sale, provision, or dispensing of marijuana is prohibited 

except as specifically authorized by state law.   
 
f. Loitering.  A marijuana dispensary/medical marijuana treatment center shall provide 

adequate seating for its patients and business invitees.  The marijuana dispensary/medical 
marijuana treatment center shall not direct or encourage any patient or business to stand, sit 
(including in a parked car), or gather or loiter outside of the building where the 
dispensary/center operates, including in any parking areas, sidewalks, rights-of-way, or 
neighboring properties for any period of time longer than reasonably required for patients 
to conduct their official business and depart.  The marijuana dispensary/medical marijuana 
treatment center shall post conspicuous signs on at least three (3) sides of the building 
stating that no loitering is allowed on the property. 

 
g. Queuing of Vehicles.  The marijuana dispensary/medical marijuana treatment center shall 

ensure that there is no queuing of vehicles in the rights-of-way.  The marijuana 
dispensary/medical marijuana treatment center shall take all necessary and immediate steps 
to ensure compliance with this paragraph. 

 

Page 85



ORDINANCE NO.  2388 
PAGE 6 
 

 

 

 

h. No Drive-Through Service.  No marijuana dispensary/medical marijuana treatment center 
shall have a drive-through or drive-in service aisle.  All onsite dispensing, payment for and 
receipt of said marijuana shall occur from within or inside the marijuana 
dispensary/medical marijuana treatment center. 

 
i. On-Site Consumption of Marijuana and/or Alcoholic Beverages.  No consumption of 

marijuana or alcoholic beverages shall be allowed on the premises, including in the parking 
areas, sidewalks or rights-of-way except for medical marijuana treatment centers. The 
marijuana dispensary/medical marijuana treatment center shall take all necessary and 
immediate steps to ensure compliance with this paragraph. 

 
j. Signage.  No business identification sign (i.e., wall, monument, pole, directional, human) 

shall include the words “marijuana”, “cannabis”, or any similar related word, nor shall any 
graphic or illustration associated with such words appear in such signs or on any  building 
or structure used a marijuana dispensing\marijuana treatment center.  An electronic reader 
board or changeable copy sign is not allowed on any property where cannabis is cultivated, 
processed, sold, or dispensed 

 
k. Hours of Operation.  Marijuana dispensaries/medical marijuana treatment centers shall 

only dispense or treat patrons between 7:00 A.M. and 8:00 P.M.  
 
l.  Customer Waiting Area.  All customer waiting areas shall occur within in an enclosed 

building.  No customer waiting areas shall occur outdoors or within a porch area, whether 
covered or not. 

 
m. Building Orientation and Design.  All customer building entrances shall be oriented to and 

visible from a public street.  Color of any wall or roof of any marijuana 
dispensaries/medical marijuana treatment centers shall comply with the City’s 
Development Design Guidelines. 

 
n. Distance Separation. No marijuana dispensary/medical marijuana treatment center shall be 

located within one thousand (1,000) feet of any school or church, or within two hundred 
(200) feet of any residentially zoned property, as further defined by these regulations.  
Distances shall be measured by drawing a straight line between the closest point of the 
marijuana dispensary/medical marijuana treatment center structure (be it a building or 
leased space in a building) to the closest property line or edge of leased space (whichever is 
closer) of the school, church or residentially zoned property. 

 
o. Compliance with Other Laws.  All marijuana dispensaries/medical marijuana treatment 

centers shall at all times be in compliance with all state regulations and the Apopka City 
Code of Ordinances and Land Development Code, as may be applicable and amended from 
time to time. 

 
p.   Security and Safety Plan.  Compliance with Section 3.f.8. of this ordinance is required. 
 
q.  Special Exception Standards. When considering an application for marijuana dispensaries/ 

medical marijuana treatment centers, the Planning Council must consider the special 
exception criteria listed in paragraph d below, in addition to that criteria listed in subsection 
2.02.B.5. The Planning Commission may deny the request, approve the request, or approve 
the request with conditions, based upon a review of these considerations. The Planning 
Commission may assign additional conditions and safeguards as deemed necessary:   

 

Page 86



ORDINANCE NO.  2388 
PAGE 7 
 

 

 

 

1) Whether the request will cause damage, hazard, nuisance or other detriment to persons 
or property. 

 
2) No other business, aside or separate from the dispensing of marijuana shall be permitted 

to be conducted from the same address where the marijuana dispensary/medical 
marijuana treatment center is located. 

 
3) The parcel, lot, or lot-of-record shall access a collector or arterial road. 
 
4) Additional Hours of Operation Restrictions.   Hours of operation can be further 

restricted based on proximity of residential development or to protect the character and 
environment of developed surrounding areas.   

  
r. Exemptions.  Hospitals and pharmacies licensed by the State of Florida are exempt from 

Section 4. 
 

SECTION 5.  GENERAL USE.  PROHIBITION ON STREETS, SIDEWALKS, ALLEYS, 

ETC. 
 

1) Regulations applicable to the consumption of medical marijuana.    No person shall smoke, 
ingest, or otherwise consume medical marijuana in the City of Apopka unless such 
smoking, ingesting or consumption occurs entirely within a private residence, or within a 
clinic, health care facility, residential care facility, or residential hospice licensed pursuant 
to applicable provisions of Florida Statutes. 

 
2)  It is unlawful for any person to purchase, use, smoke, ingest, offer for sale, possess, 

consume, or carry  any non-medical\medical marijuana in any public park or governmental 
property or on the public right -of -way, inclusive of streets, sidewalks or alleys, within the 
Municipal Corporate Limits of the City of Apopka Florida. 

 
3)  It is unlawful for any person to purchase, use, smoke, ingest, offer for sale, possess, 

consume or carry non-medical\medical marijuana or carry in or upon any parking area open 
to public use or in or upon any private property without the consent of the owner, tenant or 
other person lawfully in possession of said property. 

 
4) It is unlawful for any person to smoke, ingest, or otherwise consume or carry or use non-

medical\medical marijuana while such person is in or on any vehicle which is located in or 
upon any parking area open to public use, or in or upon any private property without 
consent of the owner or in any public park or governmental property or on the public right -
of -way, inclusive of streets, sidewalks or alley. 

 
5) It is unlawful for any person to smoke, ingest or otherwise consume or use any non-

medical\medical marijuana on the streets, sidewalks or alleys within the city, while such 
person is an operator or passenger in or on any vehicle, whether moving or stopped, and 
such consumption is open to public view. 

 
SECTION 6.  Notwithstanding any other provision, it is unlawful for any person to utilize medical 

marijuana in any public park or governmental property or on the public right-of-way, inclusive of 
streets, sidewalks or alleys, within the city; in or upon any parking area open to public use, or in or 
upon any private property without the consent of the owner, tenant or other person lawfully in 
possession of said property; or when such person is in or on any vehicle which is located in or upon 

Page 87



ORDINANCE NO.  2388 
PAGE 8 
 

 

 

 

any parking area open to public use, or in or upon any private property or in any public park or 
governmental property or on the public right-of-way, inclusive of streets, sidewalks or alleys. 

 
SECTION 7.   It is unlawful for any vendor, or for any agent, servant or employee of such vendor, 

to permit the use of medical marijuana in or upon any parking or other area outside of the vendor's 
building or room if such parking or other area is adjacent to the building or premises in which the 
business licensed is operated, when such parking or other area is owned, rented, leased, regulated, 
controlled or provided, directly or indirectly, by such licensed vendor or any agent, servant or 
employee of such licensed vendor. A licensed vendor may post and maintain a legible painted or 
printed sign in at least two separate prominent places on such parking or other area, with sufficient 
light directed thereon to be visible during the hours of darkness while such place of business is open, in 
letters not less than three inches in height, stating the following: "WARNING: Utilization of medical 
marijuana on this Lot Prohibited—$500.00 Fine and/or 60 days in Jail—City Ordinance." Posting of 
such signs shall constitute prima facie evidence that such vendor is not operating in violation of 
subsection (a) of this section. If any licensed vendor mentioned in this section is a corporation, then the 
officers of such corporation shall be regarded as the owners thereof for the purposes of enforcement of 
this section. 

 
SECTION 8.  PENALTIES.   Any person violating any of the provisions of this article shall be 

prosecuted in the same manner as misdemeanors are prosecuted. Such violations shall be prosecuted in 
the name of the State of Florida in a court having jurisdiction of misdemeanors by the prosecuting 
attorney thereof and, upon conviction, shall be punished by a fine not to exceed $500.00 or by 
imprisonment in the county jail not to exceed 60 days or by both fine and imprisonment as provided in 
F.S. § 162.22, (1997). Each incident or separate occurrence of any act that violates this article shall be 
deemed a separate offense. In addition to the penalties provided under this section, violators of this 
article shall be subject to any other appropriate civil or criminal action provided by law in a court of 
competent jurisdiction, including, but not limited to, injunctive relief. 

 
SECTION 9.  CONFLICTS.  Any ordinance, resolution, or part thereof, in conflict with this 

Ordinance, or any part hereof, is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
SECTION 10.  SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Ordinance is for any reason held or 

declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or void, such holding shall not affect the remaining 
portions of this Ordinance.  If this Ordinance or any provision thereof shall be held to be inapplicable 
to any person, property or circumstances, such holding shall not affect its applicability to any other 
person, property or circumstances. 

 
SECTION 11.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon passage 

and adoption by the City Council as to the acceptable siting locations for marijuana 
dispensaries/medical marijuana treatment centers, however the designation of a marijuana 
dispensary/medical marijuana treatment center and the selling of marijuana products as defined by the 
Florida Constitution or Florida Law shall occur only upon and after the official date in which the sale 
and distribution of marijuana has been deemed legal by the State of Florida. 

 
SECTION 12.  REPEALER.  Any and all ordinances and regulations in conflict herewith are 

hereby repealed to the extent of any conflict.  This ordinance specifically repeals and replaces the 
following ordinance(s) and regulation(s):  Land Development Code, Chapter III, Article 3, Section 3-
11, Subsection E, Paragraph 15 titles “Pain Management Clinics. 

 

Page 88



ORDINANCE NO.  2388 
PAGE 9 
 

 

 

 

SECTION 13.  INCLUSION INTO THE LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE.  It is the intent of 
the City Council that the provisions of this ordinance shall become and be made a part of the City of 
Apopka Land Development Code, re-arranged to meet existing codification, and that the sections of 
this ordinance may be renumbered or re-lettered and the word “ordinance” may be changed to 
“section,” “article,” “regulation,” or such other appropriate word or phrase in order to accomplish such 
intentions. 
 
Passed on the first reading on the ________ day of _________________, 2014. 
 
 

 

FIRST READING: 

 

November 5, 2014 

  

SECOND READING 

AND ADOPTION: 

 

November 19, 2014 

 
 
 
 

       Joseph E. Kilsheimer, Mayor 
 
 
 
        
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clear 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
_____________________________________________ 
Clifford B. Shephard, City Attorney 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING:  October 7, 2014 
       November 7, 2014 
 

Page 89



ORDINANCE NO.  2388 
PAGE 10 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



ORDINANCE NO.  2388 
PAGE 11 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



FAQs on Low THC-cannabis 

August 11, 2014 

Source:  Florida Department of Health, August 14, 2014 

 

Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 (Chapter 381.986, Florida Statutes) 
 
Definitions: 

 Dispensing organization:  An organization approved by the Florida Department of Health to cultivate, process, 

and dispense low-THC cannabis pursuant to section 456.60 F.S. 
 

 Low-THC cannabis:  A plant of the genus Cannabis, the dried flowers of which contain 0.8 percent or less of any 

tetrahydrocannabinol and more than 10 percent cannabidiol weight for weight; the seeds thereof; the resin 

extracted from any part of such plant; or any compound, manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation 

of such plant or its seeds or resin that is dispensed only from a dispensing organization. 

 Medical use: Administration of the ordered amount of low-THC cannabis.  The term does not include the 

possession, use or administration by smoking. The term also does not include the transfer of low-THC cannabis 

to a person other than the qualified patient for whom it was ordered or the qualified patient’s legal 

representative on behalf of the qualified patient. 

 Qualified patient:  A Florida resident of who has been added to the compassionate use registry by a physician 

licensed under Chapter 458 or Chapter 459 to receive low-THC cannabis from a dispensing organization. 

 Smoking: Burning or igniting a substance and inhaling the smoke. Smoking does not include the use of a 

vaporizer. 

FAQs 

1. When will the legislation become law? 
 

a. Governor Scott signed the Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 (Chapter 381.986, Florida 

Statutes) into law on June 16, 2014. 

2. Does that mean doctors can start ordering low THC-cannabis for patients? 
 

a. The Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 authorizes the ordering of low-THC cannabis by 

doctors licensed under Chapter 458 and Chapter 459 of Florida Statutes for their qualified patients 

beginning on January 1, 2015. 
 

3. Is this the same law proposed on the November ballot? 
 

a. The Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 (Chapter 381.986, Florida Statutes) is unrelated to the 

constitutional amendment being placed on the November ballot. The ballot will contain Amendment 2 

to Article X of the Florida Constitution, which would add Section 29 to Article X. 
 

4. Can any doctor in Florida prescribe low THC-cannabis? 
 

a. The Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 states that low-THC cannabis can only be ordered by 
physicians licensed under Chapter 458 or Chapter 459 of Florida Statutes.  Chapter 458 covers medical 

 

practice or allopathic physicians and Chapter 459 covers osteopathic physicians. The law further states 

that before ordering low-THC cannabis for use by a patient, the ordering physician must successfully 

Page 92



complete an 8-hour course approved by either the Florida Medical Association or the Florida 

Osteopathic Medical Association. The course will encompass the clinical indications for the appropriate 

use of low-THC cannabis, the appropriate delivery mechanisms, the contraindications for such use, as 

well as the relevant state and federal laws governing the ordering, dispensing, and possessing of this 

substance, and the physician must successfully pass an examination upon completion of the course. 
 

5. What are the requirements for obtaining low THC-cannabis? 
 

a. The Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 states that in order to be qualified to obtain low-THC 

cannabis: 

i. The patient must be a permanent Florida resident. 
 

ii. If a patient is under the age of 18, a second physician must agree with the determination of 

need for the patient. 

iii. The patient must suffer from cancer or a physical medical condition that chronically produces 

symptoms of seizures, or severe and persistent muscle spasms; or symptoms of the same. 
 

iv. Other treatments must have been tried without success. 
 

v. The ordering physician must determine the risks of using low-THC cannabis are reasonable in 

light of the benefit to the patient. 

vi. The ordering physician must register the patient in the Compassionate Use Registry. 
 

vii. The ordering physician must maintain a patient treatment plan which outlines the dose, route of 

administration, planned duration, monitoring of the patient’s illness, and tolerance of the low- 

THC cannabis, and submit the plan to the University of Florida, College of Pharmacy on a 

quarterly basis for research purposes. 
 

6. What about those people who are here only part of the year? 
 

a. The Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 states a patient must be a permanent Florida 

resident. 

7. What are the requirements to grow and dispense low THC-cannabis in Florida? 
 

a. The Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 allows the Florida Department of Health to designate 

five dispensing organizations in Florida. 

b. These dispensing organizations will be located in specified geographic regions throughout the state:  one 

each in northwest Florida, northeast Florida, central Florida, southeast Florida, and southwest Florida. 

c. The Florida Department of Health will develop an application form and determine the fees necessary, 

both initially and at biennial renewal, to cover the costs of administering The Compassionate Medical 

Cannabis Act of 2014. 
 

d. Dispensing organizations must meet stringent requirements: 
i.   Must have been in operation as a registered nursery in this state for at least 30 continuous 

years. 

Page 93



ii. Must have the ability to provide appropriate infrastructure and personnel, and maintain 

accountability for all raw materials, finished product and byproducts, in order to prevent 

unlawful access to these substances. 

iii. Must have a valid certificate of registration from the Florida Department of Agriculture that 

allows cultivation of more than 400,000 plants. 

iv. Must meet specific financial requirements. 
 

v. All owners and managers must be fingerprinted and pass a level 2 background check. 
 

vi. Must employ a medical director licensed under Chapter 458 or 459, Florida Statutes, to 

supervise dispensing activities. 
 

8. What are the financial requirements for a distributor? 

a. Dispensing organizations must have the financial ability to maintain operations for the duration of the 

two-year approval cycle. 

b. Dispensing organizations must provide certified financials to the Department. 

c. Upon approval, dispensing organizations must post a $5 million performance bond. 

9. Can patients grow their own low THC-cannabis? 

a. No. 

10. What are the regulations for planting low THC-cannabis? 

a. Only licensed dispensaries will be allowed to plant and grow low-THC cannabis in Florida. 

 
11. Where can I get an application to be a dispensary? 

a. The application will be developed during the rule-making process. Rule-making workshop notices will be 

posted on the Department website, and the public is welcome to attend these workshops. 

 
12. What medical conditions are approved for use of low THC-cannabis under The Compassionate Medical 

Cannabis Act of 2014? 

a. The Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014 allows the use of low-THC cannabis, when ordered by 

a physician licensed under Chapter 458 or Chapter 459 of F.S., for patients suffering from cancer or a 

physical medical condition that chronically produces symptoms of seizures, or severe and persistent 

muscle spasms, or to alleviate symptoms of such, if no other satisfactory alternative treatment options 

exist for the patient and other specific requirements have been met. 
 

Page 94



 

News and Information Articles  Regarding Medical Cannabis 

 

A.  Pros of Legalized Medical Cannabis 

 

Sweetening the Pot: Taxing Medical Marijuana Reaps Benefits in San Jose 

http://www.forbes.com/sites/kellyphillipserb/2011/05/16/sweetening-the-pot-taxing-medical-
marijuana-reaps-benefits-in-san-jose/ 

Source: Forbes 

Summary: Medical marijuana legalization in California has led to a windfall in sales and “sin tax” 
collection in cities like San Jose. The drug would normally be exempt from sales tax for medical 
purposes, but because the federal government lists it as a Schedule 1 substance, it cannot be 
dispensed by a doctor’s prescription – it is dispensed with a doctor’s note – and therefore is not 
exempt from taxes like prescriptions. 

 

Fewer Pain Pill Overdoses In States With Legal Medical Marijuana 

http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2014/08/26/painkiller-overdose-medical-
marijuana_n_5711425.html 

Source: Huffington Post 

Summary: A study published in JAMA found that despite a rise in pain killer deaths in the U.S., 
overdose in states with legalized medical marijuana is 25 percent lower. 

 

Studies claim medical marijuana may reduce suicide rates, traffic fatalities 

http://www.pbs.org/newshour/rundown/studies-claim-medical-marijuana-may-reduce-suicide-
rates-traffic-fatalities/ 

Source: PBS 

Summary: Recent studies show that medical marijuana may reduce suicide rates by up to 5 
percent in the general population and as much as 10 percent in young adults. In addition, traffic 
deaths have decreased 8-11 percent in the first year where states have legalized medical 
cannabis.   

 

 

1 
 Page 95



23 Health Benefits of Marijuana  

http://www.businessinsider.com/health-benefits-of-medical-marijuana-2014-4?op=1 

Source: Business Insider 

Summary:  The article describes the ailments that can be treated with medical marijuana, as 
well as the negative impacts of overuse. The article also contains links to other news coverage 
on the positive health benefits of medical cannabis. 

 

How medical marijuana has become a $5M business in Maine — and growing 

http://bangordailynews.com/slideshow/medical-marijuanas-economic-impact-growing-in-maine/ 

Source: Bangor Daily News 

Summary: The positive impact on state sales and income tax revenue from medical marijuana 
dispensaries (and related caregivers) are highlighted for Maine, which does not exempt medical 
marijuana from sales tax as a prescription. 

 

B.  Cons of Legalized Medical Cannabis 
 
Economic impact of medical marijuana in Florida an open question 
http://jacksonville.com/news/metro/2014-02-01/story/economic-impact-medical-marijuana-
florida-open-question 

Source: Florida Times-Union 

Summary: Business and other leaders debate the economic impact legalized medical marijuana 
would have in Florida, which many say remains an open question. 

 

Medical Marijuana: More states legalizing, but scientific evidence lacking 
http://www.cbsnews.com/news/medical-marijuana-more-states-legalizing-but-scientific-
evidence-lacking/ 

Source: CBS News 

Summary: Dr. Margaret Haney of Columbia University’s Marijuana Research Center argues that 
despite states’ recent legalization efforts, carefully controlled studies of the medical benefits of 
marijuana remain scant.  

 
Colorado residents say legal pot has economic, medical benefits; officials criticize 
unregulated industry 
http://www.nj.com/news/index.ssf/2010/06/medical_marijuana_pot_nj_color.html 

Source: Newark Star-Ledger 

2 
 Page 96



Summary: Colorado passed one of the most liberal marijuana legalization laws in the country, 
including for medical purposes. Residents and medical professional tout the health benefits to 
patients, but local zoning and other nuisance issues highlight the need for local follow-up 
ordinances for regulation. 

 

Other Stories 
The Legalization of Marijuana in Colorado: The Impact (August 2014) 
http://www.rmhidta.org/html/FINAL%20Legalization%20of%20MJ%20in%20Colorado%20The%20Impac
t.pdf 

An annual report prepared by an organization called the Rocky Mountain Hight-Intensity Drug 
Trafficking Area, an intergovernmental law enforcement organization that covers a four state area.  The 
mission of the Rocky Mountain HIDTA is to facilitate cooperation and coordination among federal, state 
and local drug enforcement efforts to enhance combating the drug trafficking problem locally, regionally 
and nationally. This mission is accomplished through joint multi-agency collocated drug task forces 
sharing information and working cooperatively with other drug enforcement initiatives including 
interdiction 

Medical Marijuana: Pros & Cons of Budding Legalization 
https://www.umhs-sk.org/blog/medical-marijuana-pros-cons-of-budding-legalization/Caribbean-
Medical-Schools 

 
Would Medical Marijuana be a Boon or a Bust? 
http://www.gulfshorebusiness.com/November-2013/Would-Medical-Marijuana-be-a-Boon-or-a-
Bust/ 
Source: Gulf Shore Business 
Summary:  Supporters and opponents to legalization discuss the potential economic benefits 
and societal costs of legalization across the country and in Florida. 
 

Legal Use of Marijuana Clashes With Job Rules 
http://www.nytimes.com/2014/09/08/us/legal-use-of-marijuana-clashes-with-workplace-drug-
testing.html?_r=0 
Source: New York Times 
Summary: In states that have legalized the use of marijuana (including medical), employers 
have fired or limited employment based on ‘zero tolerance’ substance policies, including for 
those eligible to use it for medical reasons. 
 
 

 

3 
 Page 97



1 
 

Florida Statute 381.986 

(aka “Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014”) 

 

381.986 Compassionate use of low-THC cannabis.—(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the 

term: 

(a) “Dispensing organization” means an organization approved by the department to cultivate, 

process, and dispense low-THC cannabis pursuant to this section. 

(b) “Low-THC cannabis” means a plant of the genus Cannabis, the dried flowers of which contain 0.8 

percent or less of tetrahydrocannabinol and more than 10 percent of cannabidiol weight for weight; the 

seeds thereof; the resin extracted from any part of such plant; or any compound, manufacture, salt, 

derivative, mixture, or preparation of such plant or its seeds or resin that is dispensed only from a 

dispensing organization. 

(c) “Medical use” means administration of the ordered amount of low-THC cannabis. The term does 

not include the possession, use, or administration by smoking. The term also does not include the 

transfer of low-THC cannabis to a person other than the qualified patient for whom it was ordered or 

the qualified patient’s legal representative on behalf of the qualified patient. 

(d) “Qualified patient” means a resident of this state who has been added to the compassionate use 

registry by a physician licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 to receive low-THC cannabis from a 

dispensing organization. 

(e) “Smoking” means burning or igniting a substance and inhaling the smoke. Smoking does not 

include the use of a vaporizer. 

(2) PHYSICIAN ORDERING.—Effective January 1, 2015, a physician licensed under chapter 458 or 

chapter 459 who has examined and is treating a patient suffering from cancer or a physical medical 

condition that chronically produces symptoms of seizures or severe and persistent muscle spasms may 

order for the patient’s medical use low-THC cannabis to treat such disease, disorder, or condition or to 

alleviate symptoms of such disease, disorder, or condition, if no other satisfactory alternative treatment 

options exist for that patient and all of the following conditions apply: 

(a) The patient is a permanent resident of this state. 

(b) The physician determines that the risks of ordering low-THC cannabis are reasonable in light of the 

potential benefit for that patient. If a patient is younger than 18 years of age, a second physician must 

concur with this determination, and such determination must be documented in the patient’s medical 

record. 

(c) The physician registers as the orderer of low-THC cannabis for the named patient on the 

compassionate use registry maintained by the department and updates the registry to reflect the 

contents of the order. The physician shall deactivate the patient’s registration when treatment is 

discontinued. 

(d) The physician maintains a patient treatment plan that includes the dose, route of administration, 

planned duration, and monitoring of the patient’s symptoms and other indicators of tolerance or 

reaction to the low-THC cannabis. 

(e) The physician submits the patient treatment plan quarterly to the University of Florida College of 

Pharmacy for research on the safety and efficacy of low-THC cannabis on patients. 

Page 98



2 
 

(f) The physician obtains the voluntary informed consent of the patient or the patient’s legal guardian 

to treatment with low-THC cannabis after sufficiently explaining the current state of knowledge in the 

medical community of the effectiveness of treatment of the patient’s condition with low-THC cannabis, 

the medically acceptable alternatives, and the potential risks and side effects. 

(3) PENALTIES.— 

(a) A physician commits a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 

775.083, if the physician orders low-THC cannabis for a patient without a reasonable belief that the 

patient is suffering from: 

1. Cancer or a physical medical condition that chronically produces symptoms of seizures or severe and 

persistent muscle spasms that can be treated with low-THC cannabis; or 

2. Symptoms of cancer or a physical medical condition that chronically produces symptoms of seizures 

or severe and persistent muscle spasms that can be alleviated with low-THC cannabis. 

(b) Any person who fraudulently represents that he or she has cancer or a physical medical condition 

that chronically produces symptoms of seizures or severe and persistent muscle spasms to a physician 

for the purpose of being ordered low-THC cannabis by such physician commits a misdemeanor of the 

first degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. 

(4) PHYSICIAN EDUCATION.— 

(a) Before ordering low-THC cannabis for use by a patient in this state, the appropriate board shall 

require the ordering physician licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 to successfully complete an 8-

hour course and subsequent examination offered by the Florida Medical Association or the Florida 

Osteopathic Medical Association that encompasses the clinical indications for the appropriate use of 

low-THC cannabis, the appropriate delivery mechanisms, the contraindications for such use, as well as 

the relevant state and federal laws governing the ordering, dispensing, and possessing of this substance. 

The first course and examination shall be presented by October 1, 2014, and shall be administered at 

least annually thereafter. Successful completion of the course may be used by a physician to satisfy 8 

hours of the continuing medical education requirements required by his or her respective board for 

licensure renewal. This course may be offered in a distance learning format. 

(b) The appropriate board shall require the medical director of each dispensing organization approved 

under subsection (5) to successfully complete a 2-hour course and subsequent examination offered by 

the Florida Medical Association or the Florida Osteopathic Medical Association that encompasses 

appropriate safety procedures and knowledge of low-THC cannabis. 

(c) Successful completion of the course and examination specified in paragraph (a) is required for 

every physician who orders low-THC cannabis each time such physician renews his or her license. In 

addition, successful completion of the course and examination specified in paragraph (b) is required for 

the medical director of each dispensing organization each time such physician renews his or her license. 

(d) A physician who fails to comply with this subsection and who orders low-THC cannabis may be 

subject to disciplinary action under the applicable practice act and under s. 456.072(1)(k). 

(5) DUTIES OF THE DEPARTMENT.—By January 1, 2015, the department shall: 

(a) Create a secure, electronic, and online compassionate use registry for the registration of physicians 

and patients as provided under this section. The registry must be accessible to law enforcement 

agencies and to a dispensing organization in order to verify patient authorization for low-THC cannabis 

Page 99



3 
 

and record the low-THC cannabis dispensed. The registry must prevent an active registration of a patient 

by multiple physicians. 

(b) Authorize the establishment of five dispensing organizations to ensure reasonable statewide 

accessibility and availability as necessary for patients registered in the compassionate use registry and 

who are ordered low-THC cannabis under this section, one in each of the following regions: northwest 

Florida, northeast Florida, central Florida, southeast Florida, and southwest Florida. The department 

shall develop an application form and impose an initial application and biennial renewal fee that is 

sufficient to cover the costs of administering this section. An applicant for approval as a dispensing 

organization must be able to demonstrate: 

1. The technical and technological ability to cultivate and produce low-THC cannabis. The applicant 

must possess a valid certificate of registration issued by the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 

Services pursuant to s. 581.131 that is issued for the cultivation of more than 400,000 plants, be 

operated by a nurseryman as defined in s. 581.011, and have been operated as a registered nursery in 

this state for at least 30 continuous years. 

2. The ability to secure the premises, resources, and personnel necessary to operate as a dispensing 

organization. 

3. The ability to maintain accountability of all raw materials, finished products, and any byproducts to 

prevent diversion or unlawful access to or possession of these substances. 

4. An infrastructure reasonably located to dispense low-THC cannabis to registered patients statewide 

or regionally as determined by the department. 

5. The financial ability to maintain operations for the duration of the 2-year approval cycle, including 

the provision of certified financials to the department. Upon approval, the applicant must post a $5 

million performance bond. 

6. That all owners and managers have been fingerprinted and have successfully passed a level 2 

background screening pursuant to s. 435.04. 

7. The employment of a medical director who is a physician licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 

to supervise the activities of the dispensing organization. 

(c) Monitor physician registration and ordering of low-THC cannabis for ordering practices that could 

facilitate unlawful diversion or misuse of low-THC cannabis and take disciplinary action as indicated. 

(d) Adopt rules necessary to implement this section. 

(6) DISPENSING ORGANIZATION.—An approved dispensing organization shall maintain compliance 

with the criteria demonstrated for selection and approval as a dispensing organization under subsection 

(5) at all times. Before dispensing low-THC cannabis to a qualified patient, the dispensing organization 

shall verify that the patient has an active registration in the compassionate use registry, the order 

presented matches the order contents as recorded in the registry, and the order has not already been 

filled. Upon dispensing the low-THC cannabis, the dispensing organization shall record in the registry the 

date, time, quantity, and form of low-THC cannabis dispensed. 

(7) EXCEPTIONS TO OTHER LAWS.— 

(a) Notwithstanding s. 893.13, s. 893.135, s. 893.147, or any other provision of law, but subject to the 

requirements of this section, a qualified patient and the qualified patient’s legal representative may 

purchase and possess for the patient’s medical use up to the amount of low-THC cannabis ordered for 

the patient. 

Page 100



4 
 

(b) Notwithstanding s. 893.13, s. 893.135, s. 893.147, or any other provision of law, but subject to the 

requirements of this section, an approved dispensing organization and its owners, managers, and 

employees may manufacture, possess, sell, deliver, distribute, dispense, and lawfully dispose of 

reasonable quantities, as established by department rule, of low-THC cannabis. For purposes of this 

subsection, the terms “manufacture,” “possession,” “deliver,” “distribute,” and “dispense” have the 

same meanings as provided in s. 893.02. 

(c) An approved dispensing organization and its owners, managers, and employees are not subject to 

licensure or regulation under chapter 465 for manufacturing, possessing, selling, delivering, distributing, 

dispensing, or lawfully disposing of reasonable quantities, as established by department rule, of low-THC 

cannabis. 

Page 101



Florida Amendment 2 

November 4 Ballot Language 

 

 

The official ballot language reads as follows: 

 

“Allows the medical use of marijuana for individuals with debilitating diseases as determined by 

a licensed Florida physician. Allows caregivers to assist patients’ medical use of marijuana. The 

Department of Health shall register and regulate centers that produce and distribute marijuana 

for medical purposes and shall issue identification cards to patients and caregivers. Applies only 

to Florida law. Does not authorize violations of federal law or any non-medical use, possession 

or production of marijuana.” 

Page 102



Page 103



Page 104 
 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

3. ORDINANCE NO. 2390 – SECOND READING & ADOPTION - COMPREHENSIVE 

PLAN – SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – Metzler Family Trust, 

from “County” Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) and “City” Very Low Suburban 

Residential (0-2 du/ac) to “City” Agriculture (1 du/5 ac), for property located east of 

Vick Road, north of West Lester Road. (Parcel ID #s: 28-20-28-0000-00-010 & 28-20-

28-0000-00-075) [Ordinance No. 2390 meets the requirements for adoption having 

been advertised in The Apopka Chief on November 7, 2014.] 

  

Page 104



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

   X    PUBLIC HEARING      DATE:  November 19, 2014 
          ANNEXATION      FROM: Community Development 
          PLAT APPROVAL      EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 
   X    OTHER: Ordinance        Vicinity Map 
           Adjacent Zoning Map 
           Adjacent Uses Map 
           Ordinance No. 2390 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: ORDINANCE NO. 2390 - METZLER FAMILY TRUST – 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE 
AMENDMENT FROM “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (0-4 
DU/AC) & “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2   
DU/AC) TO “CITY” AGRICULTURE (1 DU/5 AC) 

    
Request: SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE NO. 2390 - 

METZLER FAMILY TRUST – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL 
SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT FROM “COUNTY” LOW 
DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (0-4 DU/AC) & “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY 
LOW SUBURBAN (0-2   DU/AC) TO “CITY” AGRICULTURE (1 DU/5 
AC). (PARCEL ID NOS.: 28-20-28-0000-00-010 & 28-20-28-0000-00-075) 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY 
 
OWNER/APPLICANT: Metzler Family Trust, c/o Larry Metzler 
 
LOCATION: East of Vick Road, north of West Lester Road 
 
EXISTING USE:  Container Nursery 
 
CURRENT ZONING: “County” A-1 (ZIP) & “City” R-1AA 
 
PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Container Nursery 
 
PROPOSED 
ZONING: “City” AG  (Note: this Future Land Use Map amendment request is being 

processed along with a request to change the Zoning Map designation from 
“County” A-1 (ZIP) & “City” R-1AA to “City” AG.) 

 
TRACT SIZE:   9.97 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:   29 Units (5 ac. x 4 du/ac) plus (4.97 ac x 2 du/ac) 
    PROPOSED:  2 Units (9.97 x one du per 5 acres) 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Dir.     Public Ser. Dir. 
Commissioners (4)    HR Director     City Clerk 
Interim CA      IT Director     Fire Chief 
Community Dev. Dir.    Police Chief   

 
G:\Shared\4020\PLANNING_ZONING\Small Scale\2014\Metzler Family Trust\1 Metzler Family Trust – Vick Rd - FLU CC 11-19-14 2nd Rd  
 Page 105



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 2 
 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS   

 

The subject parcels were annexed into the City of Apopka on March 18, 1998 for Parcel # 28-20-28-0000-00-

075, through the adoption of Ordinance No. 1151 and on October 1, 2014 for Parcel # 28-20-28-0000-00-010, 

through the adoption of Ordinance No. 2380.  The proposed Small-Scale Future Land Use Amendment is  

requested by the owner, who has operated a foliage nursery at this site for more than a decade and desires to 

continue to do so for many years.  Changing the zoning to Agriculture will also help preserve future agriculture 

tax credits with the Orange County Property Appraiser’s office.  

 

A request to assign an Agriculture zoning category to the Property is being processed in conjunction with this 

FLUM amendment.   The FLUM amendment application covers approximately 9.97 acres. The property owner 

intends to continue using the site for a container nursery.    

 

In conjunction with state requirements, staff has analyzed the proposed amendment and determined that 

adequate public facilities exist to support this land use change (see attached Land Use Report). 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE  
 

The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent with the Agriculture Future Land Use designation 

and the City’s proposed AG Zoning designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the 

Future Land Use policies. 

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT   

 

Staff has notified Orange County Public Schools (OCPS) of the proposed Future Land Use Map Amendment. 

The Future Land Use change to “City” Agriculture will generate fewer homes and thus fewer students for 

certain elementary, middle and high schools than the can be anticipated from higher residential densities 

allowed by “County” Future Land Use of Low Density and the “City Future Land Use of Very Low Suburban.   

This Future Land Use amendment is subject to school capacity enhancement review. 

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION  

 

The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before any public hearing or advisory board.  The City 

properly notified Orange County on September 24, 2014.   

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE 
 

October 21, 2014 – Planning Commission (5:01 pm) 

November 5, 2014 – City Council (1:30 pm) - 1
st
 Reading 

November 19, 2014 – City Council (8:00 pm) - 2
nd

 Reading 

 

DULY ADVERTISED 
 

October 3, 2014 – Public Notice and Notification 

November 7, 2014 – Ordinance Heading Ad  

November 14, 2014 – ¼ Page w/map Ad 

  

Page 106



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 3 
 

 
_________________________________________________________  ______________________________ 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 

The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 

and  recommends approval of the change in Future Land Use from “County” Low Density Residential (0-4 

du/ac) and City “Very Low Suburban) to “City” Agriculture for the property owned by the Metzler Family Trust 

subject to the information and findings in the staff report. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on October 21, 2014, recommended approval (7-0) of the change in 

Future Land Use from “County” Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) and City “Very Low Suburban) to “City” 

Agriculture for the property owned by the Metzler Family Trust subject to the information and findings in the 

staff report. 

 

The City Council, at its meeting on November 5, 2014, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2390; and 

held it over for Second Reading and Adoption on November 19, 2014. 

 

Adopt Ordinance no. 2390. 

 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 

and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

Page 107



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 4 
 

                                                                                                                                                                          

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) A-1 Grazing 

East (County) Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) A-1 Manufactured Home 

South (County) Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) A-1 Manufactured Home/Container Nursery 

West (City) Residential Low Suburban (0-3.5 du/ac) PUD Spring Ridge Subdivision 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 
The general character of the area surrounding the subject property is compatible with this development of 
agriculture.  The property lies east of Vick Road, north of West Lester Road.   
 

 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 

 Area of Critical State Concern: No 

 DRI / FQD: No 

 

 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement on 

October 26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “Core Area” of the JPA.  The proposed FLUM 

Amendment request a change from “County” Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) to “City” Agriculture (1 du/5 

ac) is consistent with the terms of the JPA.  

 

 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act:   The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the adopted 

Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  While located within the Wekiva River Basing Study Area, 

the subject property is not located within the Protection Area. The proposed amendment is consistent with the 

adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 

reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 

Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the 

following policies: 

 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 

 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 

 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 

Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are no karst features on this property. 

 

 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The property fronts Vick Road.  The vegetative communities 

present are urban; the soils present are Candler fine sand; and no wetlands occur on the site, and the terrain is 

level. 

 

 The proposed amendment is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, including Policy 3.1.m 

Agriculture Future Land Use designation. 
Page 108



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 5 
 

 

 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The subject parcels were 

annexed into the City of Apopka on March 18, 1998 for Parcel # 28-20-28-0000-00-075, through the adoption 

of Ordinance No. 1151 and on October 1, 2014 for Parcel # 28-20-28-0000-00-010, through the adoption of 

Ordinance No. 2380.  The proposed future land use designation for the Property is Agriculture (1 du/5ac).  

Based on the housing element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s 

future population as fewer homes are allowed through the proposed future land use designation. 

 

CALCULATIONS: 

ADOPTED (City designation): 29 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 77 persons 

PROPOSED (City designation): 2 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 5 persons 

 

 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: Per policy 4.1 of the 

Conservation Element, a habitat study is required for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  This site 

is less than ten acres.  A habitat study will not be required at the time of a development plan application.   

 

 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to Chapter 

3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None ;  N/A  GPD/Capita;  81GPD / 

Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:   7840  GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   392  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:   81   GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   81   GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: None 
 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None ;  N/A  GPD/Capita;                                                        

177 GPD/Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: 

 City of Apopka 

 Page 109



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 6 
 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:    8400  GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:  420 GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:   177  GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  No           
 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site: City of Apopka  

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: 

City of Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:   424   lbs./person/day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   20   lbs./person/day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John's River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  21,981 mil. GPD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33,696 mil. GPD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 
 

 

 

 Page 110



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 7 
 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site: None 

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation:  100 year - 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year - 24 hour design storm  

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On-site retention/detention pond  

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System; 3 AC/1000 capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.318 AC 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.015 AC 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None 

 

This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of development 

approval. 

  

Page 111



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 8 
 

Metzler Family Trust 
9.97 +/- Acres 

Existing Maximum Allowable Development: 29 Units (5 ac. x 4 du/ac) plus (4.97 ac x 2 du/ac) 
Proposed Maximum Allowable Development: 2 Units (9.97 x one du per 5 acres) 

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Change 
From: “County” Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) &  

“City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) 
To: “City” Agriculture (1 du/5 ac) 

Proposed Zoning Change 
From: “County” A-1 & “City” R-1AA 

To: “City” AG 

Parcel ID #s: 28-20-28-0000-00-010 & 28-20-28-0000-00-075 
 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 
 

Subject Property 

Page 112



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 9 
 

ADJACENT ZONING 
 

  

Subject Property 

Page 113



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 10 
 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

Page 114



ORDINANCE NO. 2390 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY 

RESIDENTIAL (0-4 DU/AC) & “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW 

SUBURBAN (0-2   DU/AC) TO “CITY” AGRICULTURE (1 DU/5 AC) 

FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED EAST OF 

VICK ROAD, NORTH OF WEST LESTER ROAD,  COMPRISING 9.97 

ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY METZLER FAMILY TRUST; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka adopted the Apopka 

Comprehensive Plan by Ordinance No. 653 on October 2, 1991, pursuant to Section 163.3184, 

Florida Statutes and most recently amended it by Ordinance No. 2359 on May 21, 2014; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s local planning agency (Planning Commission) has, in 

preparation of the amended version of the Apopka Comprehensive Plan, analyzed the proposed 

amendment pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, F.S., found it to be consistent with the intent of the 

Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and held public hearings providing for full public participation. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. Purpose and Intent.  This Ordinance is enacted to carry out the purpose and 

intent of, and exercise the authority set out in, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning 

and Land Development Regulation Act, Sections 163.3184 and 163.3187, Florida Statutes. 

 

 Section II. Future Land Use Element.  Page 1-15 (Map 1-3) of the Future Land Use 

Element of the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended by Ordinance 

No. 2359, is amended in its entirety to change the land use from “County” Low Density 

Residential (0-4 du/ac) & “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) To “City” 

Agriculture (1 du/5 ac) for certain real property generally located east of Vick Road, north of 

West Lester Road; as further described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto. 

 

 Section III. Applicability and Effect.  The applicability and effect of the City of 

Apopka Comprehensive Plan shall be as provided by the Local Government Comprehensive 

Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, Sections 163.3161 through 163.3215, Florida 

Statutes. 

 

 Section IV.  Severability.  If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is declared by 

any court of competent jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all 

remaining provisions and portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

 

Page 115



ORDINANCE NO. 2390 

PAGE 2 

 

 Section V.  The Community Development Director is hereby authorized to amend the 

Future Land Use to comply with this ordinance. 

 

 Section VI. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 

 

 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 

 19
th

 of November , 2014. 
 

 

READ FIRST TIME:  

 

November 5, 2014 

 

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED:     

 

 

November 19, 2014 

 

 

 ______________________________________ 

       Joseph E. Kilsheimer, Mayor                                   

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

__________________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Clifford B. Shepard, Esq., City Attorney 

 
DULY ADVERTISED: October 3, 2014 
    November 7, 2014 

    November 14, 2014 

Page 116



ORDINANCE NO. 2390 

PAGE 3 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

Ordinance No. 2390 

 
Metzler Family Trust 

9.97 +/- Acres 
Existing Maximum Allowable Development: 29 Units (5 ac. x 4 du/ac) plus (4.97 ac x 2 

du/ac) 
Proposed Maximum Allowable Development: 2 Units (9.97 x one du per 5 acres) 

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Change 
From: “County” Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) &  

“City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) 
To: “City” Agriculture (1 du/5 ac) 

Parcel ID #s: 28-20-28-0000-00-010 & 28-20-28-0000-00-075 

 

Page 117



Page 118



Page 119 
 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

4. ORDINANCE NO. 2391- SECOND READING & ADOPTION - CHANGE OF ZONING - 

Metzler Family Trust, from “County” A-1 and “City” R-1AA to “City” AG, for property 

located east of Vick Road, north of West Lester Road. (Parcel ID #s: 28-20-28-0000-

00-010 & 28-20-28-0000-00-075) [Ordinance No. 2391 meets the requirements for 

adoption having been advertised in The Apopka Chief on November 7, 2014.] 

  

Page 119



 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

   X    PUBLIC HEARING      DATE:  November 19, 2014 
          ANNEXATION      FROM: Community Development 
          PLAT APPROVAL      EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 
   X    OTHER: Ordinance        Vicinity Map 
           Adjacent Zoning Map 
           Adjacent Uses Map  
           Existing Uses 
           Current parcel configuration 
           Ordinance No. 2391 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: ORDINANCE NO. 2391 - CHANGE OF ZONING - METZLER FAMILY TRUST, 
FROM “COUNTY” A-1 (0-4 DU/AC) (RESIDENTIAL) AND “CITY” R-1AA (0-10 
DU/AC) TO   “CITY” AG (1 DU/5 AC) (CONTAINER NURSERY) 

     
Request: SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE NO. 2391 – CHANGE OF 

ZONING – METZLER FAMILY TRUST FROM “COUNTY” A-1 (0-4 DU/AC) 
(RESIDENTIAL) AND “CITY” R-1AA (0-10 DU/AC) TO “CITY” AG (1 DU/5 AC) 
(CONTAINER NURSERY). (PARCEL ID NO.S 28-20-28-0000-00-010 & 28-20-28-0000-
00-075) 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY 
 
OWNER/ APPLICANT: Metzler Family Trust, c/o Larry Metzler 
     
LOCATION:   North of Lester Road, east of Vick Road (2127 and 2133 Vick Rd.) 
 
EXISTING USE:  Container Nursery 
 
FUTURE LAND USE: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (2 du/ac) and  
                                                “County” Low Density Residential (up to 4 du\ac) 
 
ZONING:   “City” R-1AA and “County” A-1 
 
PROPOSED 
ZONING: “City” AG (1 du/5 ac) (Container Nursery) Note: this Change in Zoning request is 

being processed along with a request to change the Future Land Use Map 
designation from  “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (2 du/ac) and “County” 
Low Density Residential (up to 4 du\ac) to “City” Agriculture (1 du/5 ac) 

 
PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Container Nursery (existing) 
 
TRACT SIZE:   9.97 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:   29 Units (5 ac. x 4 du/ac) plus (4.97 ac x 2 du/ac) 
    PROPOSED:  2 Units (9.97 x one du per 5 acres) 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer     Finance Dir.    Public Ser. Dir. 
Commissioners (4)     HR Director    City Clerk 
Interim CA       IT Director    Fire Chief 
Community Dev. Dir.     Police Chief    
 
G:\Shared\4020\PLANNING_ZONING\Rezoning\2014\Metzler Family Trust\1Metzler Family Trust ZON CC 11-19-14 2nd Rd Page 120



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: 
 
The subject parcels were annexed into the City of Apopka on March 18, 1998 for Parcel # 28-20-28-0000-00-
075, through the adoption of Ordinance No. 1151 and on October 1, 2014 for Parcel # 28-20-28-0000-00-010, 
through the adoption of Ordinance No. 2380.  The proposed Small-Scale Future Land Use Amendment is 
requested by the owner, who has operated a foliage nursery at this site for more than a decade and desires to 
continue to do so for many years.  Changing the zoning to Agriculture will also help preserve future agriculture 
tax credits with the Orange County Property Appraiser’s office. Pursuant to Florida law, properties containing 
less than ten acres are eligible to be processed as a small-scale amendment.  Such process does not require 
review by State planning agencies.  Pursuant to Florida law properties containing less than ten acres are eligible 
to be processed as a small-scale amendment, which does not require review by State planning agencies. 
 
Staff has analyzed the proposed amendment and determined that adequate public facilities exist to support this 
zoning change (see attached Zoning Report). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE:  The proposed AG rezoning is consistent with the Future Land 
Use Designation of Agriculture (1 dwelling unit per 5 acres) that is assigned to the property.   Minimum lot size 
for property assigned the AG zoning category is 5 acres.    
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  The proposed rezoning will result in a decrease in the number of 
residential units which could be developed at the subject property, resulting in fewer students than anticipated 
from the current zoning.   A capacity enhancement agreement with OCPS is not necessary because the impacts 
on schools will be less than that generated by the current zoning. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before any 
public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on September 24, 2014.   
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
October 21, 2014 – Planning Commission (5:01 pm) 
November 5, 2014 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 
November 19, 2014 – City Council (8:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
October 3, 2014 – Public Notice and Notification 
November 7, 2014 – Ordinance Heading Ad 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the change in Zoning from “County” A-1 and 
“City” R-1AA to “City”AG for the parcel owned by Metzler Family Trust, subject to the information and 
findings in the staff report. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on October 21, 2014, recommended approval (7-0) of the change in 
Zoning from “County” A-1 and “City” R-1AA to “City”AG for the parcel owned by Metzler Family Trust, 
subject to the information and findings in the staff report. 
 
The City Council, at its meeting on November 5, 2014, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2391 and 
held it over for Second Reading and Adoption on November 19, 2014. 
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 2391. 
 
Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  Page 121



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 3 
 

ZONING REPORT 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) A-1 Grazing 

East (County) Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac)  A-1 Manufactured Home 

South (County) Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) A-1 Manufactured Home 

West (City) Residential Low Suburban (0-3.5 du/ac) PUD Spring Ridge Subdivision 

 
LAND USE &  
TRAFFIC COMPATIBILITY: The subject property fronts and is accessed by a local roadway (Lakeville 

Road).   Zoning currently assigned to the property, R-1AA and A-1, allows a 
minimum lot size of 12,500 sq. ft. and 5 acres, respectively. The proposed 
change of zoning to AG limits lot size to a minimum of 5 acres.   

 
COMPREHENSIVE  
PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed AG zoning is consistent with the City’s Agriculture (1 du/5 ac) 

Future Land Use category and with the character of the surrounding area and 
future proposed development.  Per Section 2.02.01, Table II-1, of the Land 
Development Code, AG zoning is one of the acceptable zoning districts 
allowed within the Residential Low Density Future Land Use category.   
Development Plans shall not exceed the density allowed in the adopted 
Future Land Use Designation. 

 
AG DISTRICT 
REQUIREMENTS:  

Minimum Living Area: NA for non-residential use 

Minimum Site Area: 5 acres, or 217,800 sq. ft. 

Minimum Lot Width None 

Setbacks: Front: 100 ft. 

 Rear: 100 ft. 

 Side: 100 ft. 

 Corner 100 ft. 
Based on the above zoning standards, the existing 9.97 acre parcels and 
container nursery comply with code requirements for the AG district. 

 
ALLOWABLE  
USES: Agricultural production and associated residential dwelling units, as well as 

office and accessory buildings in conjunction with commercial agriculture 
uses for packing, shipping, and storage purposes. Commercial wholesale fo-
liage plant production nursery, tenant dwellings, for year-round employees, 
on the basis of one dwelling unit for each five acres of land, provided such 
dwellings are accessory to the principal use of land. Also allowed are live-
stock barns and stables; crops and animal production; the buildings and 
structures necessary to support such production; Kennels; Single-family 
dwellings, including mobile homes, and their customary accessory struc-
tures and uses in accordance with article VII of the Code; and Apiaries.  

Page 122



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 4 
 

 Metzler Family Trust 
9.97 +/- Acres 

Existing Maximum Allowable Development: 29 Units (5 ac. x 4 du/ac) plus (4.97 ac x 2 du/ac) 
Proposed Maximum Allowable Development: 2 Units (9.97 x one du per 5 acres) 

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Change 
From: “County” Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) &  

“City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) 
To: “City” Agriculture (1 du/5 ac) 

Proposed Zoning Change 
From: “County” A-1 & “City” R-1AA 

To: “City” AG 
Parcel ID #s: 28-20-28-0000-00-010 & 28-20-28-0000-00-075 

 

VICINITY MAP 

  

Subject Property 

Page 123



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 5 
 

 
 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

 

 
 

  

Subject Property 

Page 124



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 
 

 

 
 

  

Page 125



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
METZLER FAMILY TRUST – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 7 
 
 

CURRENT PARCEL CONFIGURATION 
 

 

Page 126



ORDINANCE NO. 2391 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING THE 
ZONING FROM “COUNTY” A-1 (0-4 DU/AC) (RESIDENTIAL) AND “CITY” R-
1AA (0-10 DU/AC) TO   “CITY” AG (1 DU/5 AC) (CONTAINER NURSERY) FOR 
CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED NORTH OF LESTER 
ROAD, EAST OF VICK ROAD (2127 AND 2133 VICK ROAD), COMPRISING 9.97 
ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY METZLER FAMILY TRUST; 
PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest of the 
public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as identified 
in Section I of this ordinance; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the proposed AG zoning has been found to be consistent with the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land Development Code. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, 
as follows: 
 
 Section I.  That the zoning classification of the following described property, being situated in the 
City of Apopka, Florida, is hereby AG As defined in the Apopka Land Development Code. 
 
 Legal Description: 
 

The West 318 feet of the East 620.1 feet of the North ½ of the Southwest ¼ of the 
Southwest ¼, Section 28, Township 20 South, Range 28 East, Orange County, Florida, 
LESS the North 15 feet thereof; AND the South 15 feet of the North 30 feet of the West 
711 feet of the North ½ Of the Southwest ¼ of the Southwest ¼, Section 28, Township 20 
South, Range 28 East, Orange County, Florida, LESS the West 30 feet for road and less 
that portion taken for Road Right of Way as recorded in Official Records Book 5009, Page 
1243, Public Records of Orange County, Florida. 
Parcel ID # 28-20-28-0000-00-010 
FLU - From “County” Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) 

To “City” Agriculture (1 du/5 ac) 
ZONING - From “County” A-1 
 To “City” AG 
5.00 acres +/-  
 
And 
 
The North 348 feet(except the North 30 feet thereof)of the West 711 feet of the North ½ of 
the Southwest ¼ of the Southwest ¼ of Section 28, Township 20 South, Range 28 East, 
(less the West 30 feet thereof for Road), in Orange County, Florida. 
Parcel ID # 28-20-28-0000-00-075 
FLU - From “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) 

To “City” Agriculture (1 du/5 ac) 
ZONING - From “City” R-1AA 
 To “City” AG 
4.97 acres +/- 
 
9.97 +/- Combined Acres 

Page 127



ORDINANCE NO. 2391 

PAGE 2 
 

 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the City of 

Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is hereby 

authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, Florida, to 

include said designation.  The Community Development Director shall not accept an application for a 

development plan until such time the property owner addresses school capacity enhancement review with 

Orange County Public Schools. 

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves to be 

invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, force or 

effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this ordinance. 

 

 

 Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.   

 

 Section VI.  That this Ordinance shall take effect upon the effective date of City of Apopka 

Ordinance No. 2390.  

 

 
 

                       
 
 

       _____________________________________ 
       Joseph E. Kilsheimer, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Clifford B. Shepard, Esq., City Attorney 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  October 3, 2014 
     November 7, 2014 

READ FIRST TIME:  November 5, 2014 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
November 19, 2014 

Page 128



Page 129



Page 130 
 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

5. ORDINANCE NO. 2392- SECOND READING & ADOPTION - CHANGE OF ZONING 

– Norman E. Sawyer, from “County” I-1/I-5 (ZIP) (Industrial) to “City” I-1 (Industrial) AG, 

for property located north of 13th Street, east of Lambing Lane. (Parcel ID #s: 15-21-

28-0000-00-095 & 15-21-28-0000-00-096) [Ordinance No. 2392 meets the 

requirements for adoption having been advertised in The Apopka Chief on November 

7, 2014.] 

  

Page 130



 

CITY OF APOPKA 
CITY COUNCIL 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

   X    PUBLIC HEARING      DATE:  November 19, 2014 
          ANNEXATION      FROM: Community Development 
          PLAT APPROVAL      EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 
   X    OTHER: Ordinance        Vicinity Map 
           Adjacent Zoning Map 
           Adjacent Uses Map 
           Current Parcel Configuration   
           Ordinance No. 2392 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: ORDINANCE NO. 2392 - CHANGE OF ZONING – NORMAN E. SAWYER, FROM 
“COUNTY” I-1/I-5 (ZIP) (LIGHT INDUSTRIAL) TO “CITY” I-1 (INDUSTRIAL) 

     

Request: SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE NO. 2392 – CHANGE OF 

ZONING – NORMAN E. SAWYER, FROM “COUNTY” I-1/I-5 (ZIP) (LIGHT 

INDUSTRIAL) TO “CITY” I-1 (INDUSTRIAL). (PARCEL ID NO.S 15-21-28-0000-

00-095 & 15-21-28-0000-00-096) 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY 
 
OWNER/APPLICANT: Norman E. Sawyer  
 
LOCATION:   North of 13

th
 Street, East of Lambing Lane 

 
EXISTING USE:  Two (2) single-family residences, 1 mobile home 
 
FUTURE LAND USE: Industrial  
 
ZONING: “County” I-1/I-5 (Light Industrial) 
 
PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT: Light Industrial or commercial. No development plans have been submitted to the 

City. 
 
PROPOSED 
ZONING: I-1 (Restricted Industrial) -- Min. 15,000 Sq. Ft. Lot 
 
TRACT SIZE:   2.3 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING ZONING:  60,113 sq. ft. 
    PROPOSED ZONING: 60,113 sq. ft. 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 

DISTRIBUTION 

Mayor Kilsheimer     Finance Dir.    Public Ser. Dir. (2) 

Commissioners (4)     HR Director    City Clerk 

Interim CA       IT Director    Fire Chief 

Community Dev. Dir.     Police Chief  

 
G:\Shared\4020\Planning_Zoning\Rezoning\2014\Norman Sawyer – 1169 Lambing_1184 Apopka Blvd\1 Norman E. Sawyer 1169 Lambing_1184 Apopka Bv ZON CC 

11-19-14 2nd Rd Page 131



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
NORMAN E. SAWYER – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 2 

 
 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: 

 

The subject property was annexed into the City of Apopka on January 16, 2008, through the adoption of 

Ordinance No. 2009.  The proposed zoning change is compatible with the character of the surrounding area.   

As the Property is assigned a Future Land Use Designation of Industrial, the property owner desires to assign a 

compatible City zoning category.  A city zoning category currently is not assigned to the Property.  Prior to 

annexation into the City, the Property was assigned an I-1/I-5 zoning category by Orange County government. 

 

In conjunction with state requirements, staff has analyzed the proposed amendment and determined that 

adequate public facilities exist to support this zoning change (see attached Zoning Report). 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE:  The proposed I-1 rezoning is consistent with the Future Land 

Use Designation of Industrial that is assigned to the property.  Site development cannot exceed the densities or 

intensities allowed by the Future Land Use policies. Development standards for the proposed I-1 zoning 

category establish a minimum lot area standard of 15,000 sq. ft.  

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:    The proposed zoning is for a non-residential use. Therefore, a school 

capacity enhancement agreement is not required. 

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before any 

public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on September 24, 2014. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

October 21, 2014 – Planning Commission (5:01 pm) 

November 5, 2014 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1
st
 Reading 

November 19, 2014 – City Council (8:00 pm) - 2
nd

 Reading 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

October 3, 2014 – Public Notice and Notification 

November 7, 2014 – Ordinance Heading Ad 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the change in Zoning from “County” I-1/I-5 

(ZIP) (Light Industrial) to “City” I-1 (Restricted Industrial) for the property owned by Norman E. Sawyer 

subject to the information and findings in the staff report. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on October 21, 2014, recommended approval (7-0) of the change in 

Zoning from “County” I-1/I-5 (ZIP) (Light Industrial) to “City” I-1 (Restricted Industrial) for the property 

owned by Norman E. Sawyer subject to the information and findings in the staff report. 

 

The City Council, at its meeting on November 5, 2014, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2392 and 

held it over for Second Reading and Adoption on November 19, 2014. 

 

Adopt Ordinance No. 2392. 

 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 

and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. Page 132



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
NORMAN E. SAWYER – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 3 

 

 

ZONING REPORT 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ac) R-1 Single-Family Homes 

East (County) Low Density Residential (0-4 du/ ac) R-1 Single-Family Homes 

South County) 

South (City) 

Industrial (County) 

Institutional/Public Use (City) 

A-1 (ZIP), 

PO/I 

Warehousing  

Church  

West (County) Industrial R-T-2 Manufactured Homes 

 
LAND USE &  
TRAFFIC COMPATIBILITY: The subject property fronts a major collector roadway (Apopka 

Boulevard) to the north and is bordered to the west by a local street – 
Lambing Lane.   

     
The area along 13

th
 Street to the south contains uses compatible with light 

industrial, including warehousing and religious uses that transition to 
manufactured homes to the west and more commercial zoning and uses to 
the east.  

 
COMPREHENSIVE  
PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed I-1 zoning is consistent with the City’s Industrial Future 

Land Use category.  Development Plans shall not exceed the intensity 
allowed in the adopted Future Land Use Designation. 

 
I-1 DISTRICT 
REQUIREMENTS: Minimum Site Area:  15,000 sq. ft. 
 Minimum Lot Width:  100 sq. ft. 
 Setbacks- Front:  25 ft. 
 Rear:    10 ft. (30 ft. abutting residential) 
 Side:    10 ft. 
 Corner:   25 ft. 
 
ALLOWABLE  
USES: Wholesale distribution, storage, and light manufacturing.  

Page 133



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
NORMAN E. SAWYER – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 4 

 
Norman E. Sawyer 

2.3 +/- Acres 
Existing Maximum Allowable Development: 60,113 sq. ft. 

Proposed Maximum Allowable Development: 60,113 sq. ft. 
Proposed Zoning Change 

From: “County” I-1/I-5 (ZIP) (Light Industrial) 
To: “City” I-1 (Restricted Industrial) 

Parcel ID #s: 15-21-28-0000-00-095 & 15-21-28-0000-00-096 
 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Subject Property 

Page 134



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
NORMAN E. SAWYER – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 5 

 

 
 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

Subject 
Property 

Page 135



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
NORMAN E. SAWYER – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 6 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 
 

 

  

Page 136



CITY COUNCIL – NOVEMBER 19, 2014 
NORMAN E. SAWYER – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 7 

 

PARCEL CONFIGURATION 

 

 

 

Page 137



 
ORDINANCE NO. 2392 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING THE 

ZONING FROM “COUNTY” I-1/I-5 (ZIP) (LIGHT INDUSTRIAL) TO “CITY” I-1 

(INDUSTRIAL) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED 

NORTH OF 13TH STREET, EAST OF LAMBING LANE, COMPRISING 2.3 

ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY NORMAN E. SAWYER; 

PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest of the 
public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as identified 
in Section I of this ordinance; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the proposed I-1 zoning has been found to be consistent with the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land Development Code. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, 
as follows: 
 
 Section I.  That the zoning classification of the following described property, being situated in the 
City of Apopka, Florida, is hereby I-1, as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code. 
 
 Legal Description: 
 

1169 Lambing Lane: 
The East 110 feet of the West ½ of the Southeast ¼ of the Northeast ¼, lying South of 
paved road, less the West 20 feet thereof for road right-of-way, and less road right-of-way 
on the South, in Section 15, Township 21 South, Range 28 East, Orange County, Florida. 
Parcel ID # 15-21-28-0000-00-095 
0.74 acre +/- 
 
1184 South Apopka Boulevard: 
All of the Southeast ¼ of the Southeast ¼ of the Northeast ¼ of Section 15, Township 21 
South, Range 28 East, lying South and West of Old Apopka Highway, less road right-of-
way on the South, Orange County, Florida. 
Parcel ID # 15-21-28-0000-00-096 
1.60 acres +/- 
 
2.3 +/- Combined Acres 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the City of 

Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is hereby 

authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, Florida, to 

include said designation.  The Community Development Director shall not accept an application for a 

development plan until such time the property owner addresses school capacity enhancement review with 

Orange County Public Schools. 

 

Page 138



ORDINANCE NO. 2392 

PAGE 2 
 

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves to be 

invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, force or 

effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this ordinance. 

 

 Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.   

 

 Section VI.  That this Ordinance shall take effect immediately.  

 

 
 

                       
 
 

       _____________________________________ 
       Joseph E. Kilsheimer, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Clifford B. Shepard, Esq., City Attorney 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  October 3, 2014 
     November 7, 2014 

READ FIRST TIME:  November 5, 2014 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
November 19, 2014 

Page 139



Page 140



Page 141 
 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

1. Administrative Report  

  

Page 141



    
    Presented To: Mayor and City Council 
     

 November 19, 2014 

Administrative Report  

Page 142



Visits      
2272 

Unique 
Visits        
1937 

Page Views 
11645 

Pages/Visit  
5.12 

Avg. Visit 
Duration 
00:02:98 

% New 
Visits 

70.52% 

A.S.K. 
Apopka Service Kiosk 

November 2013 – October 2014 

Page 143



3 

3329 
4611 

6827 
8385 

13085 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Building Webpage Visits 

234024 273981 
379121 

640032 

469788 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Homepage Visits 

Page 144



4 

$484,188 $488,490 

$830,321 

$1,535,818 

$1,215,467 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Sewer Impact  

$244,395 $293,257 

$520,871 

$685,458 
$788,736 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Water Impact 

$475,254 $508,917 

$1,607,067 

$990,841 

$1,798,997 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Transportation Impact 

$2,864,265 

$1,191,951 $1,290,873 

$1,849,509 
$1,635,201 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

School Impact 

Page 145



5 

$459,569 

$222,216 

$347,006 
$425,304 $413,916 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Reuse Impact  

$54,718 

$32,060 

$55,200 

$73,520 

$59,722 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Recreation Impact 

194 

205.6 

194.8 

181.1 179.5 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Average Potable Water 
Billed 

213 
167 

258 281 

340 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

New Potable Meters 
Set 

Page 146



6 

9073 9096 9480 10549 

18049 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

ACH   

11969 12658 13260 13761 

18578 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Office Window   

5710 5601 5495 
5235 

6161 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Drop Box   

18702 18927 18888 18491 
22527 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Drive-Up 
Window 

26838 
31352 35589 39720 

56590 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Web   

62916 61222 58503 55772 
67797 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Mailed   

Page 147



7 

55 
67 

77 
89 84 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Arbor Permits 

$555 

$1,988 

$1,030 
$1,313 

$1,157 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Arbor 
 Revenues 

$8,279 $1,738 $6,701 

$56,100 

$82,410 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Tree Bank  
Revenues 

Page 148



8 

132 

61 
107 92 83 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Automated Phone 
System Requests   

2604 
1555 1638 1506 

4272 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Internet Inspection 
Requests 

4516 4906 5265 
6465 

7573 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Office Inspection 
Requests 

Page 149



9 

2718 
2284 

2595 
2971 

3595 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Permits Issued 

$90,161,460 
$72,178,149 

$142,341,329 

$113,316,429 $121,904,339 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Value of  
Construction 

181 
107 

182 189 

381 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Certificates of 
Occupancy Issued 

7252 6521 7013 7993 

12716 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Inspections  Performed 

Page 150



10 

7.34 7.59 
7.1 6.8 6.5 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Water Plant – Average 
Daily Flow 

2.8 2.55 2.6 2.8 
3.3 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Wastewater  Plant 
Average Daily Flow 

157 

188 187 

159 
171 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Reclaimed Gallons 
Produced 

134 
168 180 

134 147 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Reclaimed Gallons 
Used 

Page 151



11 

13468 13385 13507 

13898 

14289 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Residential Customers 

638 638 640 
646 

658 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Commercial Customers 

11907 12774 13188 13621 
15427 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Recycling Customers 

Page 152



12 

Public Services - Water Conservation  
January - October 

47 

10 

60 

7 

22 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Program Rebates 

34 
41 

13 15 

38 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Rain Sensors Issued 

103 

155 
176 

115 

185 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

System Evaluations 

$1,231  
$1,025  $930  $1,040  

$2,206  

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Rebate Value 

Page 153



13 

1935 

918 

2411 

1478 1530 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

League Events 

153 
136 132 126 

163 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Senior Events 

1289 

2042 
1752 

1522 
2058 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Facility Events 

44258 52157 

97636 
111821 

70274 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Special Events 
Attendees 

Page 154



14 

2694 2570 2607 2708 

3589 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

EMS Calls For Service 

1009 978 1007 
897 

1208 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

NFIRS Calls For 
Service 

1857 1794 1931 1992 
2459 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Annual Inspections 

Page 155



15 

2511 

1442 1430 

2448 
2264 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Uniform Traffic Citations 

79 
65 

101 

76 67 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

DUI Arrests 

1498 

567 
268 

939 

570 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Warning Citations 

100 

22 22 

344 

140 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Parking Citations 

Page 156



16 

63 70 
131 112 

296 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Unkempt Cases 

39 
24 35 48 

158 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Disabled Vehicle Cases 

170 161 
257 272 

734 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Total Code Enforcement Cases 

Page 157



17 

182 175 188 
229 

327 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

New Business Tax 

791 

229 
459 

92 

1805 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Business Tax Renewals 

Page 158



Page 159


	Top
	1. 11/19/14 - proclamation 
	1. minutes
	10-15-2014.pdf

	2. 11/19/2014 - Consent Agenda - Bid Rejection
	Green Sheet ITB 2014-03.docx

	3. Nov 19 Council Meeting- Property Disposal
	Nov 19- Property Disposal_1 GS.pdf
	Nov 19- Property Disposal - Disposal List_1.pdf

	4. 11-19-14 - Consent Agenda - PS OUC RENEW update
	1 OUC Renew update.pdf
	2 OUC Renew update.pdf

	1. 11-19-14 - CC - Ordinances - 2nd Rd - Ord #2386 - Change of Zoning - Florida Land Trust #111
	1 Florida Land Trust #111 ZON_PUD Master Site Plan CC 11-19-14 2nd Rd.pdf
	2 Florida Land Trust #111 ZON_PUD Master Site Plan Ord 2386.pdf
	3 Exhibit A - Florida Land Trust #111 PUD_Master PlanPDP.pdf
	4 Exhibit B - Sandpiper Master Plan Development Standards.pdf
	5 Exhibit B1 Northern Landscape Buffer.pdf
	6 CityOfApopkaPub150782-521.pdf

	2. 11-19-14 - CC - Ordinances - 2nd Rd - Ord #2388 - Amending the Land Development Code to create a new overlay district - Grow Area Overlay District
	1 Grow Area Overlay Zone - CC - 11-19-14 2nd Rd.pdf
	2 Ord # 2388 - Apopka Marijuana Ord.pdf
	3 Exhibit A - FAQs on Low THC.pdf
	4 Exhibit B - News Coverage_Pros &amp; Cons of Legalized Medi.pdf
	5 Exhibit C - Florida Statute 381.pdf
	6 Exhibit D - Florida Amendment 2 Ballot Language.pdf
	7 CityOfApopkaPub150782-521.pdf

	3. 11-19-14 - CC - Ordinances - 2nd Rd - Ord #2390 - Small Scale FLU - Metzler Family Trust
	1 Metzler Family Trust - Vick Rd - FLU - CC - 11-19-14 2nd Rd.pdf
	2 Ord 2390 Metzler Family Trust FLU.pdf
	6 CityOfApopkaPub150782-521.pdf

	4. 11-19-14 - CC - Ordinances - 2nd Rd - Ord #2391 - Change of Zoning - Metzler Family Trust
	1 Metzler Family Trust - Vick Rd - ZON - CC - 11-19-14 2nd Rd.pdf
	2 Ord 2391 Metzler Family Trust ZON.pdf
	3 CityOfApopkaPub150782-521.pdf

	5. 11-19-14 - CC - Ordinances - 2nd Rd - Ord #2392 - Change of Zoning - Norman E. Sawyer
	1 Norman E Sawyer 1169 Lambing &amp; 1184 Apopka Bv ZON CC 11-19-14 2nd Rd.pdf
	2 Ord 2392 Norman E Sawyer - Lambing Ln_Apopka Blvd ZON.pdf
	3 CityOfApopkaPub150782-521.pdf

	1. Administrative Report
	201410AdministrativeReport.pptx

	Bottom

